
Environment and 
Community Panel
Agenda

Wednesday, 25th November, 2015
at 6.00 pm

in the

Wembley Room, 
Alive Lynnsport, 
Greenpark Avenue, 
King’s Lynn



If you require parts of this document in another  language, large print, audio, Braille or any alternative 

format please contact the Council Information Centre on 01553 616200 and we will do our best to 

help.

LATVIAN
Ja Jums nepieciešamas daļas no šī dokumenta citā valodā, lielā drukā, audio, Braila rakstā vai 

alternatīvā formātā, lūdzu, sazinieties ar Padomes informācijas centru (Council Information Centre) pa 

01553 616200 un mēs centīsimies Jums palīdzēt.

RUSSIAN
Если вам нужны части этого документа на другом языке, крупным шрифтом, шрифтом Брайля, 

в аудио- или ином формате, обращайтесь в Информационный Центр Совета по тел.: 01553 

616200, и мы постараемся вам помочь.

LITHUANIAN
Jei pageidaujate tam tikros šio dokumento dalies kita kalba, dideliu šriftu, Brailio raštu, kitu formatu ar 

norite užsisakyti garso įrašą, susisiekite su Savivaldybės informacijos centru (Council Information 

Centre) telefonu 01553 616200 ir mes pasistengsime jums kiek įmanoma padėti.

POLISH
Jeśli pragną Państwo otrzymać fragmenty niniejszego dokumentu w innym języku, w dużym druku, w 

formie nagrania audio, alfabetem Braille’a lub w jakimkolwiek innym alternatywnym formacie, prosimy 

o kontakt z Centrum Informacji Rady pod numerem 01553 616200, zaś my zrobimy, co możemy, by 

Państwu pomóc.

PORTUGUESE
Se necessitar de partes deste documento em outro idioma, impressão grande, áudio, Braille ou 

qualquer outro formato alternativo, por favor contacte o Centro de Informações do Município pelo 

01553 616200, e faremos o nosso melhor para ajudar.



King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Telephone: 01553 616200
Fax: 01553 691663

Tuesday, 17 November 2015

Dear Member

Environment and Community Panel

You are invited to attend a meeting of the above-mentioned Panel which will be held 
on Wednesday, 25th November, 2015 at 6.00 pm in the Alive Lynnsport, 
Greenpark Avenue, King's Lynn, Norfolk to discuss the business shown below.

Please note that Members of the Panel are invited to participate in a tour of 
Alive Lynnsport prior to the meeting.  Members wanting to participate in the 
tour should meet in the Wembley Room at 4.45pm

Yours sincerely 

Chief Executive

AGENDA

1.  Apologies for absence  

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  Minutes  (Pages 7 - 20)

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. 

3.  Declarations of interest  

Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 
relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the Member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed.

Those declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 



of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area. 

4.  Urgent Business  

To consider any business which, by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chairman proposed to accept as urgent under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the 
Local Government Act, 1972. 

5.  Members Present Pursuant to Standing Order 34  

Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chairman of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to be heard 
before the meeting commences.  Any Member attending the meeting under 
Standing Order 34 will only be permitted to speak on those items which have 
been previously notified to the Chairman. 

6.  Chairman's Correspondence  

If any. 

7.  Matters referred to the Panel from other Council Bodies and responses 
made to previous Panel recommendations/requests  

To receive comments and recommendations from other Council bodies, and 
any responses subsequent to recommendations, which the Panel has 
previously made.

At the Cabinet meeting on 3 November 2015, the following responses were 
made to the recommendations from the Joint Panel Meeting on the 28th 
October 2015, on the following items:

Cabinet Report – Review of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Fees

PANEL RECOMMENDED: (i) That an update on the ability for private hire 
operators to sub contract to another local authority operator be provided to the 
Panel in 12 months time.
(ii) That the Regeneration and Development & Environment and Community 
panel support the recommendations to Cabinet as set out in the report.

CABINET RESPONSE: The comments of the Panel were taken into 
consideration when Cabinet considered the item.

Cabinet Report – Gambling Act Policies

PANEL RECOMMENDED: That the Regeneration & Development and 
Environment & Community Panel supported the recommendations to Cabinet 
as set out in the report.

CABINET RESPONSE: The comments of the Panel were taken into 
consideration when Cabinet considered the item.



Cabinet Report – Licensing Act Policies

PANEL RECOMMENDED: That the Regeneration & Development and 
Environment & Community Panel supported the recommendations to Cabinet 
as set out in the report.

CABINET RESPONSE: The comments of the Panel were taken into 
consideration when Cabinet considered the item.

 

8.  Leisure Trust Update  (Pages 21 - 31)

To receive an update from representatives from the Leisure Trust. 

9.  Cabinet Report - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Conditions Review  (Pages 32 - 120)

The above report is on the Cabinet Forward Decision List for 1st December 
2015 and has been identified by the Chairman for consideration by the Panel.

The Panel are requested to consider the report and make any appropriate 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

10.  Cabinet Report - Freebridge Community Housing Representation  (Pages 
121 - 125)

The above report is on the Cabinet Forward Decision List for 1st December 
2015 and has been identified by the Chairman for consideration by the Panel.

The Panel are requested to consider the report and make any appropriate 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

11.  Work Programme and Forward Decisions List  (Pages 126 - 129)

To consider the Work Programme.

In considering the Work Programme Members’ attention is drawn to the 
Cabinet Forward Decision List. 

12.  Date of the next meeting  

To note that the next meeting of the Environment and Community Panel is 
scheduled to take place on 6th January 2016 at 4.00pm in the Committee 
Suite, King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, PE30 1EX. 

To:

Environment and Community Panel: L Bambridge (Vice-Chairman), Mrs C Bower, 
Mrs S Collop, Mrs S Fraser, G Hipperson, M Hopkins, P Rochford, C Sampson 
(Chairman), T Smith, Mrs S Squire and Mrs J Westrop

Portfolio Holders:



Councillor A Lawrence
Councillor D Pope

Officers:

Chris Bamfield, Executive Director
Duncan Hall, Strategic Housing and Community Safety Manager
Ray Harding, Chief Executive
Vicki Hopps, Environmental Health Manager (Commercial)
Simon McKenna, Chief Executive – Alive Leisure
Nina McKenna, Head of Programming and Marketing – Alive Leisure
Roger Partridge, Sports Development Manager – Alive Leisure
Jan Clay, Company Secretary – Alive Leisure
Peter Lemon, Chairman of Alive Leisure Trust

Executive Directors
Press



368

BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK

JOINT MEETING OF THE REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT AND 
ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY PANEL

Minutes from the Meeting of the Joint Meeting of the Regeneration & 
Development and Environment & Community Panel held on Wednesday, 

28th October, 2015 at 6.00 pm in the Committee Suite, King's Court, Chapel 
Street, King's Lynn

PRESENT: C Sampson (Chairman)
Councillors L Bambridge, A Bubb (substitute for Mrs J Westrop), 

Mrs J Collingham, Mrs S Collop, P Colvin (substitute for C J Crofts), 
Mrs S Fraser, G Hipperson, M Hopkins, M Chenery of Horsbrugh, M Howland, 

P Kunes, Mrs K Mellish, P Rochford, M Shorting, T Smith, Mrs S Squire, A Tyler, 
Mrs E Watson, D Whitby and Mrs A Wright

Portfolio Holders
Councillor A Lawrence, Portfolio Holder for Community
Councillor Mrs E Nockolds, Portfolio Holder for Culture, Heritage and 
Health

Officers:
Chris Bamfield, Executive Director Commercial Services
Martin Chisholm, Business Manager, Leisure and Public Space
Laura Hampshire, Regeneration Project Officer
Ray Harding, Chief Executive
Steven King, THI Project Officer
Cara Jordan, Barrister
Ostap Paparega, Regeneration and Economic Development Manager

RD&EC68  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Beales, C 
Crofts, N Daubney, M Tilbury and Mrs J Westrop.

RD&EC69  MINUTES 

RESOLVED: The minutes from the meeting held on 30 September 
2015 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

RD&EC70  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Mrs Collop declared that a relative had sent a letter in 
response to the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Fees 
consultation (RD&EC76).

RD&EC71  URGENT BUSINESS 

7

Agenda Item 2



369

There was none.

RD&EC72  MEMBERS PRESENT PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER 34 

There was none.

RD&EC73  CHAIRMAN'S CORRESPONDENCE 

There was none.

RD&EC74  MATTERS REFERRED TO THE PANEL FROM OTHER COUNCIL 
BODIES AND RESPONSES MADE TO PREVIOUS PANEL 
RECOMMENDATIONS/REQUESTS 

There was none.

RD&EC75  EVENTS 

a  Hanse Festival 

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager provided the 
Panel with an overview of the Borough Council’s involvement in 
Hanseatic activities.  

The Panel was provided with the history of the Hanseatic League 
which, during medieval times, consisted of over 200 towns and cities 
around the North Sea and Baltic Sea.  It was an economic and trade 
alliance which historically had political power.  

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
in 1980 a new group of 43 former Hanseatic League members 
reinstated the Hanse Union.  England currently had three members; 
King’s Lynn, Boston and Hull.  The new Hanse League currently has 
members from 184 cities and 16 countries.

Business Hanse was created in 2013 and the Borough Council was 
one of the co-founding members.  There were over 142 members in 9 
European countries and 112 businesses involved in Business Hanse.  
The aim of Business Hanse was to encourage export and trading 
across the Hanse Economic Area.

The Panel was informed that the Borough Council’s reason for 
involvement in Hanse was to promote the heritage of the area and 
encourage tourism, assist in meeting corporate priorities within the 
corporate business plan and encourage trade.

8



370

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
the Borough Council had been promoting King’s Lynn’s Hanseatic 
Heritage for several years through events celebrating international 
Hanse Day.  He explained that international Hanse Day was an annual 
event with over 100 towns and cities participating.  

2015 was the 10th Anniversary since the King’s Lynn had joined the 
Hanse League so a Hanse Festival and Business Convention had 
been held to promote the heritage of King’s Lynn.

The Business Convention included representatives from local 
businesses, UK Trade and Investment, Local Enterprise Partnerships 
and Growth Accelerators.  Workshops, funding hubs and one to one 
advice was available throughout the convention.  A business reception 
was also hosted by the Borough Mayor.

The Hanse Festival was held over a weekend in May 2015 and 
included activities for children, medieval activities, musical 
entertainment and the chance to go on board a 14th century replica 
Hanseatic Kogge which was docked at the Pontoons.

Children from local primary schools had also been engaged in a ‘Crazy 
Composers’ project.  Workshops had been delivered in the school and 
pupils then performed at the Minster and King’s Staithe Square.

King’s Lynn Civic Society also held a community breakfast which had 
been well attended and well received.

The Chairman thanked the Regeneration and Economic Development 
Manager for his report and invited questions and comments from the 
Panels, as summarised below.

Councillor Baron Chenery of Horsbrugh asked for clarification of who 
was the Lord High Admiral of the Wash.  The Chairman explained that 
King’s Lynn Conservancy Board would be able to advise accordingly.

Councillor Tyler informed those present that he had spent a lot of time 
helping to promote the connections with Hanse.  He felt that it 
presented an opportunity to promote the heritage and history of King’s 
Lynn.  Councillor Tyler explained that a book on King’s Lynn’s 
involvement in Hanse would be published and the intention was to use 
it in schools.  He hoped that it would be available as part of the 
education of young people.  Councillor Tyler asked the Regeneration 
and Economic Development Manager if he believed that the local 
economy and businesses would benefit from links and connections 
with the Hanse League.  The Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager explained that the businesses around the 
Waterfront had recorded record sales over the Hanse Festival 
weekend and footfall in the town centre was up.  He explained that UK 
Trade and Investment and the Borough Council worked with 

9



371

Businesses and inward investment enquiries to assist them where 
possible.

The Executive Director explained that research had shown that town 
centres could not thrive on just retail; they needed to capitalize on the 
heritage offer to draw in visitors to the town.

In response to a question from Councillor Mrs Squire, the Regeneration 
and Economic Development Manager explained that the Business 
Hanse only came into being two years ago so it was difficult to 
measure its benefits, however, the Council did deal with lots on 
enquiries through the network.

In response to a question from the Vice Chairman, the Regeneration 
and Economic Development Manager confirmed that the costing of the 
business event did include the Mayor’s reception.  He explained that 
work was ongoing to look at proposals for the next three years event 
package and bids for funding would be made for a programme from 
2016 to 2019.  The Regeneration and Economic Development 
Manager confirmed that staffing costs had not been included in the 
figures presented in his report.

The Vice Chairman explained that it was important for events to be 
adequately marketed and promoted.  The Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager explained that press releases had been sent 
and the events had been promoted through the local media.  The Vice 
Chairman commented that events should be publicised nationally.

The Chairman commented that he felt events were publicised well 
through the local media.

Councillor Shorting commented that all entrances to the town centre 
should have posters or billboards displaying event information.

Councillor Mrs Nockolds, Portfolio Holder for Culture, Heritage and 
Health explained that the Council did have a display at the 
Sandringham show and at Hansetag days, so that they could promote 
King’s Lynn nationally and internationally.

The Executive Director explained that as part of the Heritage Lottery 
Funding for the Town Hall a four year activity plan would be provided 
which would incorporate some of the Hanse Festival events.

Councillor Mrs Mellish thanked the Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager for a good report.  She explained that the cost 
of the event needed to be compared to the economic benefit.  She was 
disappointed that the Business benefit had not yet been realised and 
asked if the same could be achieved if the Council did not have the 
links with the Hanse and the associated costs.  Councillor Mrs Mellish 
commented that the report did not show costs of flights and 
subsistence relating to the Hanse.

10



372

Councillor Mrs Wright explained that she was on the Hanse Committee 
who dealt with organising the events and she felt that the Council’s 
involvement in Hanse had really helped to ‘bring the town alive’.  All of 
the activities combined delivered a unique experience.  She reminded 
those present that King’s Lynn housed the only surviving Hanseatic 
Warehouse in the Country.  She highlighted the tourism and business 
benefits of showcasing King’s Lynn’s unique Heritage and stated that 
King’s Lynn’s future was in its past.

RESOLVED: The report was noted.
b  General Events 

The Commercial Services Business Manager provided those present 
with a quick review of events held in 2015.

He explained that the Borough Council had organised a detailed and 
elaborate events programme over the Spring and Summer.  A 
minimum of one major event every fortnight had been planned.  The 
ethos behind this was to contribute towards the Council’s Corporate 
Strategy by developing a vibrant town centre, stimulate business 
growth and interest and help people value their cultural heritage.  The 
Council worked with many partners and organisations to deliver the 
events.  Details were provided of the following events:

- 27th March – Lumiere Festival of Light
- 3rd May GEAR and mini-GEAR.  Highest ever entries recorded this 

year.
- 15th to 17th May – Hanse Weekend.
- 30th May – Sports Activity Day.
- 13th and 14th June – Magna Carta 800th Anniversary.
- 27th June – Festival Too Fireworks
- 3rd, 4th, 10th, 11th July – Festival Too.
- 5th July – Extra daytime Festival Too event.
- 18th July – Spitfire trail Launch/RAF Cadets Freedom Parade
- 19th July – 40’s day
- 25th July – King’s Lynn Festival Street Entertainment
- 1st, 15th, 29th August – Covent Garden Street Entertainment
- 9th August – Mods and Rockers
- 22nd and 23rd August – Water Ski Racing
- 23rd August  -Fairy Tales and Legends
- 12th and 13th September – Beer Barbers and Butchers
- 13th September – Heritage Open Day organised by King’s Lynn Civic 

Society and Classic Car Show.  

The Panel was provided with footfall statistics which showed the 
difference in footfall on event days compared to the same day the 
previous year.  Detail of the cost of each event was also provided.

The Business Manager explained that a budget was available for 
2016/2017 events, but what would be available in future years was 
unknown.  Work was ongoing to put together an EU funding bid for a 

11



373

programme of events from 2017 to 2019.  The Business Manager 
informed those present that the King’s Lynn Town Centre Partnership 
was also progressing proposals for a Business Improvement District.  If 
the Business Improvement District came into fruition funds would be 
available and those involved in the Business Improvement District 
would choose how they were spent.  He explained that the King’s Lynn 
Town Centre Partnership had acknowledged that activities drive footfall 
in the town centre.

The Business Manager informed those present of events planned for 
the rest of the year which included Fawkes in the Walks on 6th 
November and the Christmas Lights switch on, which this year had 
been changed to a Sunday to make it a more family friendly event.  
The switch on event would take place on 22nd November.

The Panel was informed that a schedule of events for 2016 was 
currently being planned using feedback and statistics from the events 
held in 2015.

The Chairman thanked the Business Manager for his report and invited 
questions and comments from the Panel, as summarised below.

Councillor Smith commented that the footfall figure for GEAR was not 
included in his report.  The Business Manager agreed to make the 
figures available.

Councillor Shorting commented that an international angling event was 
to take place next year in King’s Lynn.  The Business Manager asked 
Councillor Shorting to pass on the details to him.

Councillor Bubb explained that he was disappointed that some of the 
eating establishments in the town centre had not been open during the 
events.  The Business Manager explained that he shared this concern.  
Events were well publicised and businesses were made aware of the 
events through the King’s Lynn Town Centre Partnership.  He 
explained that he was surprised that the businesses would not want to 
make the most out of the opportunities for increased trade.  The 
Business Manager explained that the availability of food would be 
looked at when planning future events.

Councillor Kunes congratulated all those involved in the events 
programme as he felt that all events were excellent, especially the 
Water Ski weekend which he had attended and noticed a significant 
increase in footfall.

In response to a question from Councillor Howland, the Business 
Manager explained that the spitfire models used in the spitfire trail 
would be auctioned off for charity on 3rd December at the town hall.

Councillor Hopkins congratulated all those involved in the events and 
referred to the application to bring the weeping window of poppies into 

12



374

the town.  The Business Manager explained that some of the poppies 
which had been used at the Tower of London were on tour, and the 
Council had made an application for them to come to King’s Lynn.  
Nothing had been confirmed at present.

Councillor Mrs Squire asked if the weather had been recorded on event 
days and if this had an impact on footfall.  The Business Manager 
explained that there was currently no weather recording equipment in 
King’s Lynn, but acknowledged that the weather was an important 
factor in relation to the success of the events.

The Portfolio Holder for Culture, Heritage and Health, Councillor Mrs 
Nockolds commented that she felt that there had been a fantastic 
summer of events and she was still receiving positive feedback.  She 
stressed the importance of keeping the town lively and vibrant.  She 
referred to an article on King’s Lynn which had recently been published 
in the Daily Mail.  She explained that King’s Lynn was also promoted 
on the Visit England website and regularly in the local media.  The 
Portfolio Holder thanked all those involved in making the events 
successful.

RESOLVED: The report was noted.

RD&EC76  CABINET REPORT - REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING FEES 

The Barrister presented the Cabinet report explaining that the 
Deregulation Act 2015 had introduced changes to hackney carriage 
and private hire legislation.  Changes included the duration of hackney 
carriage and private hire driver’s licences to three years, the duration of 
private hire operator’s licences to five years and the ability for private 
hire operators to sub contract bookings to a private hire operator 
licensed by another local authority.

The Barrister explained that the introduction of the new licence 
durations required a fee to be set.  The last review of fees was in 2011 
so the Licensing Department had reviewed all hackney carriage and 
private hire fees at the same time.  The proposed fees and how they 
had been calculated was set out in the report.

The Barrister referred to the appendices contained within the report 
which included objections from members of the trade in relation to the 
increase in fees.

The Chairman thanked the Barrister for her report and invited 
questions and comments from both Panels, as summarised below.

Councillor Smith commented that he had read through all of the 
correspondence and felt that a lot of the objections could have been 

13



375

avoided if information had been made available at the outset on how 
the figures had been calculated.

Councillor Smith referred to the legislation which allowed for operators 
to sub contract out to operators licensed by another local authority.  He 
asked if the operators would have to adhere to the Borough Council’s 
standards and if there was a difference in the standards set between 
different local authorities.  The Barrister explained that there would be 
variations in the requirements of different local authorities, but they 
should all follow the same standard requirements such as the fit and 
proper test and take account of the guidance available and case law.  

The Chairman commented that one of the differences could be the age 
and mileage of vehicles which were allowed to be licensed.  

The Barrister explained that any complaints received would be 
considered and action could be taken against the driver if required. 

The Chairman reminded those present that this was a new piece of 
legislation and Members would have to monitor its impact.  If significant 
problems arose, Members could lobby the relevant Minister and Local 
MP’s.

The Chairman reminded those present that the recommendations set 
out within the report were to approve the new fee structures.  The 
ability for private hire operators to sub contract bookings to a private 
hire operator licensed by another local authority was set out in 
legislation so had been included within the report for information.

Councillor Bubb asked why the fees had increased as a longer duration 
licence should take no more time to administer.  The Barrister referred 
to the report which set out the reasons why the fees had increased.

Councillor Smith requested that the Panel be kept updated on the 
impact of the new fees be provided to the Panel in 12 months’ time.

Councillor Kunes suggested that the meter rates could be increased 
which would cover the increase in fees.  The Portfolio Holder for 
Community, Councillor Lawrence explained that there needed to be a 
balance and not all members of the trade may want to see the meter 
rate increased as they could lose business.

Councillor Mrs Squire asked if there were statistics available on the 
amount of new licenses granted in the last 12 months and the Barrister 
agreed to circulate the information.

RESOLVED: 
(i) That an update on the ability for private hire operators to sub 
contract to another local authority operator be provided to the Panel in 
12 months time.

14



376

(ii) That the Regeneration and Development & Environment and 
Community Panel support the recommendations to Cabinet as follows:

1. The Council approves the new fee structure for drivers of hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles;

2. The Council approves the new fee structure for private hire operators.
3. The Council approves the new fee structure for vehicles and other 

sundry matters attached in the fee structure.

RD&EC77  CABINET REPORT - GAMBLING ACT POLICIES 

The Barrister presented the Cabinet report and explained that the 
Gambling Act 2005 required all local authorities to publish a Statement 
of Principles each three year period.  The Borough Council’s current 
policy was approved by Full Council on 29th November 2012.

The report set out the organisations and individuals who had been 
consulted on the revised Statement of Principles and the Barrister 
explained that the draft Statement had been available on the website 
and comments had been invited.

The changes to the Policy were set out in the report and related to 
Local Area Profiling and Small Society Lotteries.

The Barrister explained that the consultation had ended on 9th October 
2015 and no responses had been appended to the report.

The Chairman thanked the Barrister for her report and invited 
questions and comments from the Panels, as summarised below.

Councillor Smith referred to Local Area Profiling and asked if the 
Council carried out checks to ensure that they were mitigating risks.  
The Chairman explained that checks would be carried out.

RESOLVED: That the Regeneration and Development & Environment 
and Community Panel supported the recommendation to Cabinet as 
set out below:

That the Council be invited to adopt the Statement of Principles in 
accordance with the requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.

RD&EC78  CABINET REPORT - LICENSING ACT POLICIES 

The Barrister presented the Cabinet report and explained that Section 
5 of the Licensing Act 2003 required licensing authorities to prepare 
and publish a statement of licensing policy every five years.  A review 
of the statement had been carried out, taking into account new revised 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Culture, Media and Sport and guidance issued by Local Government 
Regulation.

15



377

Proposed changes to the policy were set out in the report.  The Panel 
was informed that before determining the policy the Act stated that the 
Council must consult with certain individuals and organisations.  The 
details of the review were also published on the Borough Council’s 
website.

The Chairman thanked the Barrister for her report and invited 
questions and comments from the Panels.  There were no questions 
from the Panel.

RESOLVED: That the Regeneration and Development & Environment 
and Community Panel support the recommendations to Cabinet as set 
out below:

That the Council be invited to adopt the revised Statement of Licensing 
Policy in accordance with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.

RD&EC79  RIVERFRONT DELIVERY PLAN 

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager presented the 
report which outlined the rationale and process for preparing a Delivery 
Plan for the regeneration of King’s Lynn riverfront, its key components, 
expected outcomes and timetable.

Those present were provided with a map of the area that the Delivery 
Plan would cover, which had been broken down into three areas.  The 
Regeneration and Economic Development Manager informed those 
present that most of the site was within the St Margaret’s and St 
Nicholas Conservation Area.  He explained that the report outlined the 
potential development issues and constraints such as flood risk and 
ground conditions.  

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
the largest land owner within the study area was the Borough Council, 
however several sites were in third party ownership and the 
preparation of the Delivery Plan would engage with land owners to 
identify development opportunities.

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager highlighted 
the recommendations as set out in the report and explained that the 
procurement of an architect-led professional team would help to deliver 
a comprehensive scheme for the long term economic sustainability of 
the town centre.

The Panel was referred to part two of the report which looked at the 
options which had been considered and the Regeneration and 
Economic Development Manager reminded those present that at this 
stage no solutions had been drawn up.  The report was to engage with 
the organisations as appropriate to develop proposals and solutions to 

16



378

achieve something transformational which would benefit the town 
centre.

The Panel’s attention was drawn to part 4 of the report which set out 
the next steps and indicative timetable to complete the Delivery Plan.  
It was hoped that the Delivery Plan would be completed by 
September/October 2016.

The Chairman thanked the Regeneration and Economic Development 
Manager for his report and invited questions and comments from the 
Panels, as summarised below.

Councillor Tyler commented that he could not see any problems with 
the idea philosophy but the ‘devil would be in the detail’.  He referred to 
the members of the public who were present at the meeting and their 
concerns.  He asked if the Regeneration and Economic Development 
Manager could provide information on what sort of projects would be 
included in the Delivery Plan.  The Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager explained that no projects had been agreed as 
yet; this would form part of the Delivery Plan.  He acknowledged that 
there were several key stakeholders in the area and they would all be 
considered in the consultation process.  The Panel was informed that a 
Project Board would be established to oversee the preparation of the 
Delivery Plan.  It had also been proposed that a key stakeholder forum 
would also be considered to ensure that key stakeholders were kept 
informed of progress and had the opportunity to provide input into the 
process at key stages.

The Chairman reminded those present that they were considering the 
endorsement of developing a Delivery Plan and no plans or projects 
had been agreed as yet.  Options would be considered during the 
creation of the Plan.

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
once a professional team had been appointed more detailed 
timescales could be prepared and all of the relevant stakeholders 
would be notified.  He explained that the financing of any projects and 
proposals realised through the Delivery Plan would be subject to 
separate agreement.  The scale of the project could not be quantified 
at this stage.

Councillor Kunes asked if consideration had been given to increasing 
the Delivery Plan area further north to incorporate Common Staithe 
Square and how this could be linked to the South Quay.  The 
Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
options could be considered when preparing the Delivery Plan and 
noted Councillor Kunes comments.

Councillor Bubb referred to the mixed ownership of the site.  The 
Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 

17



379

there were some areas where the ownership was currently unknown 
but detailed site investigations would be carried out.

The Vice Chairman stressed the importance on ensuring that key 
stakeholders were kept informed and consulted on proposals.  

In response to a further question from the Vice Chairman, the 
Regeneration and Economic Development Manager explained that 
nothing had been pre-determined at the moment. 

Councillor Mrs Mellish felt that it was important to keep up momentum 
and referred to car parking in the area.  The Regeneration and 
Economic Development Manager clarified that all three areas would be 
included in the Delivery Plan.

Councillor Smith referred to part 3.5 and 3.6 of the report and 
commented that he hoped that the architect engaged would be 
sympathetic to the history and heritage of the town centre.  The 
Regeneration and Economic Development Manager agreed that they 
would definitely need the right calibre of architect and tender criteria 
would be produced, each tender would be scored and weighed.

The Executive Director suggested that the Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager come back to the Panel with an update once 
the architect had developed draft proposals.

Councillor Rochford asked for an update on the proposals for parking 
at the South Quay and the Executive Director agreed to provide him 
with details.

RESOLVED: 1. That the Panel:

a. Endorses the preparation of a Regeneration Delivery Plan for King’s 
Lynn Riverfront area.

b. Endorses the procurement of an architect-led professional team to 
prepare the King’s Lynn Riverfront Regeneration Delivery Plan.

2. That the Panel be kept updated on progress.

RD&EC80  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act, 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 or 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

RD&EC81  EXEMPT - DERELICT LAND AND BUILDINGS GROUP AND 
TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE INITIATIVE UPDATE 

18



380

The Regeneration and Economic Development Manager and the 
Regeneration Project Officer provided the Panel with an update on the work 
of the Derelict land and Buildings Group.  The Terms of Reference of the 
Group was provided to the Panel.  The purpose of the Group was to co-
ordinate a corporate proactive approach to tackling borough-wide issues with 
regard to derelict land and buildings including bringing empty sites and 
buildings back into use and improving the overall appearance of properties, 
land and public areas in the borough.  The Regeneration and Economic 
Development Manager clarified that the Group did not deal with empty homes 
unless they were derelict.

The Regeneration Project Officer provided detail on the current status of 
derelict land and buildings in the borough which had been included in the 
Groups Action Plan.

The Townscape Heritage Initiative Project Officer provided an update on the 
Townscape Heritage Initiative.  He reminded those present that the project 
was funded by the Borough Council, Heritage Lottery Fund and private 
investment.  Three critical, 20 priority and a further 68 reserve properties 
within the St Margarets and St Nicholas Conservation Area were included in 
the project.  The Townscape Heritage Initiative also contributed towards the 
Saturday Market Place enhancements.  As part of the project complementary 
activities were being carried out including training, education and events.

The Townscape Heritage Initiative Officer provided those present with details 
of the critical and priority projects.

The Chairman thanked the Regeneration and Economic Development 
Manager, the Regeneration Project Officer and the Townscape Heritage 
Initiative Project Officer for their presentation and invited questions and 
comments from the Panel. 

In response to a question from Councillor Howland, it was confirmed that 
empty Listed Buildings were exempt from Council Tax and Business rates.  
Other empty properties, after a grace period, were subject to Council Tax and 
Business rates.

RESOLVED: The Panel noted the update.

RD&EC82  WORK PROGRAMME AND FORWARD DECISIONS LIST 

The Chairman informed those present that if they had any suggestions 
for items to be added to the Work Programme they could email him or 
the Chairman of the Regeneration and Development Panel at any time.

RESOLVED: The work programme and forward decision list was 
noted.

RD&EC83  DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 

19



381

The next meeting of the Regeneration and Development & 
Environment and Community Panel was scheduled to take place on 
Wednesday 25 November 2015 at 4.00pm in the Wembley Room, 
Lynnsport.

The meeting closed at 8.47 pm

20



ANNUAL REPORT

21

Agenda Item 8



2

OUR VISION:

“to be the number 
one place of choice 
by providing 
sustainable, 
inclusive and 
affordable sporting 
and cultural 
activities for the 
public benefit in 
West Norfolk”

CONTENTS
Page 4-5 Chairman & Chief Executive report

Page 6 Senior Management Team

Page 7 Trustees

Page 8-11 Key Performance Indicators – how we have performed?

Page 12 Focus on Sports Development

Page 13 Focus on Sports

Page 14 Focus on Arts and Entertainment

Page 15 Your Opinion Counts

Page 16-19 Annual Financial Accounts

Alive Oasis

Incorporates a 25m 
swimming pool 

with aqua slide and 
whirlpool as well as 

a gym, fitness stu-
dio, Fun Castle and 
roller skating rink.

Alive Sports 
Development

Increasing sustain-
able opportunities 

to participate  
in sport and phys-

ical recreation in 
West Norfolk.

Alive Downham  
Leisure 

Hosts a 25m  
swimming pool, 

fully equipped gym, 
classes studio and 

sports hall.

Alive St James Pool

A 25m swimming 
pool, a learner pool, 

gym and  
classes studio.

Alive Lynnsport

A multi-faceted 
indoor and outdoor 
leisure complex 
including two gyms, 
a climbing wall, 
skatepark and  
athletics facilities.

Alive Corn  
Exchange

A 700 seat multi-
purpose theatre 
presenting a wide 
variety of live 
entertainment.

3

22



The range of services, facilities and events under the management of Alive Leisure is signif-
icant and it is important that we consolidate the arrangements, although we continue to look 
at ways of further improving the services where possible. 

A new website went live on the 1st September 2014 and attracted over 75,000 visits which 
is excellent. Many internal and external signs have been replaced and new staff uniforms 
provided, giving the chance to update and standardise across service areas.  Alive Card 
was launched in September 2014 providing opportunities for discounts on sports activities 
as well as offering concessional rates for those who qualify.  Other activities have also been 
programmed including a regular wheelchair bowls session, Kandoo and Mini Kandoo club 
and we worked closely with Active Norfolk to deliver another Safeguarding and Protecting 
Children workshop which was fully booked.

Learn2 continuous lessons for gymnastics and swimming have been introduced meaning 
that parents do not need to re-enrol their child; progress to higher classes takes place when 
the pupil is actually ready rather than waiting to an end of course term as previously required.

Standing gigs have been introduced at the Corn Exchange which increases the capacity 
considerably and we are very pleased with the quality of acts and shows over the past year 
including Blood Brothers, Dawn French, Alan Carr, Russell Watson and Swan Lake.  Record 
numbers also attended the panto Snow White.

Finally, we would like to acknowledge the contribution of the volunteer Board of Trustees for 
their work and dedication particularly during the set up stage; also the ‘Alive’ Staff who have 
embraced the changes, and together we look forward to providing a great leisure service to 
the West Norfolk community.

Peter Lemon
Chairman

Simon McKenna
Chief Executive

Welcome to the first Annual Report for Alive Leisure.

It seems such a short time ago that we were in negotiations with the Borough Council of King’s 
Lynn & West Norfolk for Alive Leisure to take on the management and operation of key local 
leisure facilities and services, and here we are having completed our first part operating year.

It’s well documented that the council, along with many other authorities, needed to look at 
other ways to deliver services in order to save money and help ensure they continue to be 
provided in a more cost effective way. 

The contractual arrangements determine the council retains ownership of the buildings which 
are leased to Alive Leisure but as an independent charitable organisation we make our own 
decisions through a Board of Trustees supported by a Senior Management Team.  However, 
it is clearly beneficial to all parties, customers and community that we work closely with the 
council as a key stakeholder within the new arrangements. 

Alive Leisure went ‘live’ on the 1st September 2014 and to be successful we need to grow 
the organisation ensuring an efficient, practical and systematic approach.  As a ‘not-for-profit’ 
charitable company we aim through our charitable objects to promote services to individuals 
regardless of age and ability; to encourage an active and healthy lifestyle, and advancement 
of the arts, culture and heritage in West Norfolk.  

The first part year operating has been very successful and we plan to put some of the surplus 
achieved into a reserve fund and build this up to ensure that we have sufficient resources to 
meet any unexpected costs that may arise as well as future costs of upkeep.  We will reinvest 
the remainder back into services and are currently in discussion with the council looking at 
some joint investment opportunities.

CHAIRMAN AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
REPORT

4 5

23



Simon McKenna - Chief Executive

Nina McKenna 
Head of Programming  

and Marketing

Neil Gromett 
Chief Operating Officer - Alive Management Ltd
Contracted by Alive Leisure to oversee the operational 
services, maintenance, utilities and management of the 
bars, catering and vending services.

Roger Partridge 
Senior Development Manager  

(Sport & Leisure)

Jan Clay - Company 
Secretary

Sarah Juggins - Trustee Ian Trundley - Trustee

Abbie Panks - Trustee Elizabeth Nockolds - Trustee

Michael Andrews - TreasurerDr Ian Mack - Vice Chairman

Peter Lemon - Chairman

6 7

TRUSTEES ALIVE LEISURE SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

 ALIVE MANAGEMENT LTD24



K
EY

 P
ER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
 

IN
D

IC
A

TO
R

S 
H

O
W

 
H

A
V

E 
W

E
 

P
ER

FO
R

M
ED

?

1,464,891
2013/14

1,422,448
2014/15

2014/15

£0.97

2013/14

£1.18

8 9

2.9% below target. 
We have reviewed our 
marketing strategy to 
increase users to the 
facilities in 2015/16.

Income target 2014/15

£2,955,610
Outcome

£3,167,551

Income 
exceeded target 

by 6.75%, this was 
largely due to above 

expected performance 
on show income, swim-

ming lessons and 
gymnastics.

The aim for 
2015/16 is to reduce 

this further, with  
a target  
of £0.95.

Users  (facilities) 

Subsidy (per user) 

25



8

Health and Safety 2014/15

10 11

6,370
Event participants target 2014/15

6,360
Outcome

Target achieved. 
Events included GEAR 

10K, West Norfolk 
Village Games and 

Open Days.

Our external audits  
of Health and Safety 

gave us a score of 89% 
against a national 

average of 62%

Health and Safety target 2014/15

89%

Outcome

Reduced energy 
charges and an 

improved energy plan 
have resulted in energy 
savings of around 11% 

against target.£556,340
Utility costs target 2014/15

£497,894
Outcome

75%

26



FOCUS
ON SPORTS
DEVLOPMENT

Sportslink activities ranging 
from Archery to Basketball

National TV 
episode of Mr 

Bloom filmed at 
Lynnsport

Coach Education 
courses

Sportivate programmes 
engaging over 600 young 

people £2,853 funding secured 
for disabilities

Lifestyles Schools Day 
offering BMX and 

Climbing to Windsurfing 
and Street Dance

School Sport climbing 
and fitness courses 
attracting over 250 

children

Supporting  Inclusive Sports; Adapted 
Sports Day, Wheelchair bowls, Kandoo 

Club and table tennis sessions

Women’s Running courses 

Fit4Work Games 

Programmes aimed at people 
 currently doing no exercise

Learn2 junior swimming and 
gymnastics classes launched, 

over 1,200 attending each week

14,000 Twitter 
and Facebook 

followers

Major investment 
at Alive Oasis

FOCUS
ON SPORTS

New website 
launched in 2014 

with 75,000 visits in 
6 months

1,325,653 visitors to 
the sports facilities

New electronic 
customer 

surveys 
launched

Alive Card launched 
in 2014 now with 

10,000+ card holders

Working with key health partners – Heath 
Trainer service, QEH Cardiac Rehab, 

Community Cancer Rehab Unit/McMillan, 
Nero Rehab unit, BHF Healthy Lives 

project, Local GP surgeries

12 13

27



“my personal fitness 
advisor is excellent”“staff are friendly 

and know their jobs”
“I really enjoy 

the classes and 
am pleased 

that I joined”
“very  

satisfied”

“always a  
positive  

experience”

“We just love 
the place and 

the shows”

“A brilliant 
venue.  

Love it”

“Always enjoy all 
shows. Thank you”

“Love the place”

YOUR OPINION COUNTS
• First ever email customer survey March 2015
• 3,488 Alive Leisure members
• Response rate 15%
• Net Promoter Score 20%
• Industry national average 21%
• 2,230 Alive Corn Exchange customers
• Response rate 14%
• Net Promoter Score 67%

Joint project with Norfolk and 
Norwich Festival and Sadlers 

Wells to bring community youth 
project Breakin Convention to 

King’s Lynn

Sell out week of 
Blood Brothers

88,829 attenders at the 
Corn Exchange

132 shows in  
2014-2015

Introduction of standing 
gigs for UB40 and Shane 

Filan

Record breaking single 
day with 3 sell out 

performances of Sing-a-
long-a- Frozen

Record breaking pantomime Snow 
White with over 21,000 attenders

Top names performing 
including Lee Evans, 

Jimmy Carr, Dawn French 
and Alan Carr

206 number of 
performances 

2014-2015

FOCUS
ON ARTS &
ENTERTAINMENT

14 15

Improvement 
action plans have 
been developed  

to increase  
customer satisfaction 

in 2015/16

28



816

 Unrestricted £’s  Restricted £’s  Total £’s
   
Donations 319,880 0 319,880
    
Income from Charitable Activities 3,058,321 12,618 3,070,939
    
Income from Other Trading Activities    
Commercial trading Operations 33,326 0 33,326
    
Investment Income 174 0 174
    
Total Income 3,411,701 12,618 3,424,319
    
Expenditure    
Costs of Raising Funds   
 
Expenditure from Charitable Activities 3,092,165 11,060 3,103,225
    
Expenditure from Other Trading Activities   
Commercial trading Operations 15,876 0 15,876
    
Total Expenditure 3,108,041 11,060 3,119,101
    
Net income/(expenditure) before tax 
for the reporting period 303,660 1,558 305,218
    
Tax Payable 3,560 0 3,560

Net income/(expenditure) for  
the reporting period 300,100 1,558 301,658
    
Total Funds brought forward 0 0 0
    
Total Funds Carried Forward 300,100 1,558 301,658

ALIVE LEISURE STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES (INCLUDING  
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT) 
FOR PERIOD ENDING 31 MARCH 2015

OUR
FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

17

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.

29



818

 Period ended  
 31 March 2015 £ 

Cash flows from operating activities  
Cash generated from operations  799,247
   
Net cash generated by operating activities 799,247
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Interest received  174
   
Net cash used in investing activities 174
  
Increase in cash and cash 
equivalents in the year 799,421
  
Cash and cash equivalents  
at the beginning of the year 0
   
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2015 799,421

ALIVE LEISURE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

19

 2015 £ 

Current assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 799,421

Trade Receivables 1,003,106

Inventory – Resale Stock 20,434
 
 1,822,961
 
Current liabilities  

Trade Payables falling due within one year 1,521,303  
  
Net current assets 301,658
  
Total net assets 301,658
  
The funds of the charity  

Unrestricted Income Funds 300,100

Restricted Income Funds 1,558
  
 301,658

ALIVE LEISURE
BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

The Trustees have prepared accounts in accordance with section 398 of the Companies Act 
2006 and section 138 of the Charities Act 2011. These accounts are prepared in accord-
ance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the Companies Act relating to small compa-
nies and constitute the annual accounts required by the Companies Act 2006 and are for 
circulation to members of the company.

Signed P Lemon
Name Peter Lemon, Chair of trustees on behalf of the trustees
Approved by the trustees on 29 September 2015

30



Alive Leisure, Greenpark Avenue,  
King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 2NB

Charity No 1156582
Company No 8735413

www.aliveleisure.co.uk

31



REPORT TO CABINET

Open

Any especially 
affected 
Wards

Mandatory/

Discretionary / 

Operational

Would any decisions proposed :

(a) Be entirely within cabinet’s powers to decide YES/NO
 (b) Need to be recommendations to Council     YES/NO
 (c) Be partly for recommendations to Council YES/NO
and partly within Cabinets powers –

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Lead Member: Cllr Adrian Lawrence
E-mail:  cllr.adrian.lawrence@west-
norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted: Cllr Donald Tyler

Lead Officer:  Vicki Hopps
E-mail: vicki.hopps@west-norfolk.gov.uk 
Direct Dial: 01553 616307

Other Officers consulted: 
Marie Malt; John Gilbraith

Financial 
Implications 
YES/NO

Policy/Personnel 
Implications
YES/NO

Statutory 
Implications  
YES/NO

Equal 
Opportunities 
Implications 
YES/NO

Risk Management 
Implications
YES/NO

Date of meeting: 1st December 2015

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING PROCEDURES AND 
CONDITIONS

Summary
The procedures and conditions have been updated following various changes in 
legislation since the last conditions were approved by Full Council on 30th June 2011. 
A number of procedures and conditions have also been reviewed with the aim of 
streamlining procedures and providing more protection for the public. 

Recommendation
The Council adopt the revised procedures and conditions. 

Reason for Decision
To keep the current procedures and conditions up to date and fit for purpose. 

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk has adopted the 
provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 that 
relate to the licensing of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, hackney 
carriage and private hire drivers and private hire operators. The Act permits 
Local Authorities to attach conditions to the licenses issued to vehicles, drivers 
and operators. The purpose of this licensing regime is to ensure the safety of 
the travelling public, other road users, pedestrians, and the drivers of licensed 
vehicles. Commercial concerns of the trade can be taken into account but are 
secondary to the safety aspects of licensing. The last full review of licensing 
conditions was approved by Full Council on 30th June 2011. 

32

Agenda Item 9

mailto:cllr.adrian.lawrence@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cllr.adrian.lawrence@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:vicki.hopps@west-norfolk.gov.uk


2.0 Consultation 

2.1 The trade were consulted on the proposed procedures and conditions 
between 17th August 2015 and 30th September 2015. A copy of the consultation 
document can be found in the background papers. 

2.2  The response to the consultation was disappointing with only 26 responses 
(9%) received from the trade. A copy of all the responses received from the 
trade can be found in the background papers. 

3.0       Proposals

3.1Legislative Changes. Changes in various different types of legislation have 
required the Borough Council to update the procedures and conditions accordingly. 
These changes are summarised below: 

3.1.1 In December 2012 the functions of the Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) 
and the Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA) were merged and are now 
carried out by the Disclosure Barring Service (DBS). Reference to the CRB has 
been changed to DBS throughout the conditions and procedures document. 

3.1.2  Since October 2014, the paper tax disc was not required to be displayed 
in a vehicle. As a result, the conditions and procedures have been changed to 
reflect the new position to display the internal vehicle licence. 

3.1.3  Since June 2015, the paper counterpart of the DVLA driving licence was 
no longer valid. Paper licences issued before 1998 when the photo card was 
introduced are still valid. The requirement to produce the paper part of the DVLA 
driving licence is not required if a photo card is held.

3.1.4 From 1st October 2015, the Deregulation Act 2015 requires all hackney 
carriage and private hire driver’s licenses to be issued for a period of 3 years, 
and private hire operator licences for 5 years, unless a shorter period is 
appropriate. The licensing conditions and procedures have been updated to 
reflect this statutory change. 

3.2 Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Convictions. The current policy is 
based on a DFT circular which was circulated in 1992 and is not fit for purpose, 
particularly in light of the recent child exploitation matters involving taxi drivers. It is 
proposed to introduce new guidelines relating to the relevance of convictions to 
ensure that stricter guidelines are applied when considering the suitability of 
licensed drivers. This will also make potential applicants and existing licence 
holders aware of the guidelines.  

33



3.3 Change in Age/Mileage Policy. It is proposed to change the mileage 
policy for licensed hackney carriage and private hire vehicles from up to 5 years 
and up to 60,000 miles upon new application to up to 5 years and up to 70,000 
miles. Under the proposal vehicle applications would be processed as follows: 

Age, months/years

0-11m
0-1y

12-23m
1-2y

24-35m
2-3y

36-47m
3-4y

48-59m
4-5y

60-71m
5-6y

72-80m
6-7y

81+m
7+

5,000
10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000
35,000
40,000
45,000
50,000
55,000
60,000
65,000
70,000
75,000
80,000
85,000

Mileage

90,000

Fully meets policy – granted using delegated authority
May be granted by authorised officers in exceptional circumstances
Vehicles in this category will be refused using delegated authority

3.4 It is proposed to retain the upper age limit to 10 years with unlimited 
mileage for vehicle renewals. It is, however proposed that renewal applications 
not meeting this 10 year policy are dealt with as follows:

34



Age (years)
Up to 10 11-12 13-14 15+

150,000, or 
less
160,000
170,000
180,000
190,000
200,000
210,000
220,000
230,000
240,000

Mileage

250,000 +

Fully meets policy – granted using delegated authority
May be granted by authorised officers in exceptional circumstances
Vehicles in this category will be refused using delegated authority

3.5 Right to Work Check. Guidance issued by the Department of Transport 
states that licensing authorities should carry out right to work checks on 
individuals applying for hackney carriage and private hire licenses. The East of 
England Immigration Officer has also requested the Borough Council carry out 
such checks. It is therefore proposed to introduce the requirement for all 
applicants to provide prescribed documentation upon application. 

3.6 Other Proposed Amendments. It is proposed to make a number of minor 
amendments to the conditions. A summary of these proposals are attached to 
this report as Appendix 1.

3.7     A revised copy of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Procedures and Conditions which has been updated to reflect the proposed 
changes can be found in Appendix 2.

4.0       Financial Implications

There are no additional staffing requirements or other associated costs. 

35



5.0 Statutory Implications

In order not to exacerbate crime and disorder, particularly late at night, it is essential 
that there is a fleet of safe, properly licensed taxi and private hire vehicles to take 
people home. The proposals should help to ensure that the trade fully understands its 
obligations and that enforcement will be transparent. 

6.0 Background Papers

1. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Procedures and Conditions, June 
2011.

2. Consultation Document – Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Review of Conditions 
dated 17th August 2015.  

3. Responses received from the licensed hackney carriage and private hire trade from 
the consultation. 

7.0Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Proposals Summary 
Appendix 2 - Revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Procedures 
and Conditions Booklet. 

36



Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Conditions & Procedures Review 

Legislation Changes 

Summary of change Reason for proposed change
Combined Hackney Carriage/Private Hire 
Driver Licenses will be issued for the duration 
of 3 years. 

Change in Law - Deregulation Act 2015. 
Applicable from 1st October 2015

Private Hire Operator Licenses will be issued 
for the duration of 5 years. 

Change in Law - Deregulation Act 2015. 
Applicable from 1st October 2015

Licensed Private Hire Operators will have the 
ability to sub-contract work to licensed private 
hire operators out of the area governed by 
The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West 
Norfolk. 

Change in Law - Deregulation Act 2015. 
Applicable from 1st October 2015

The Criminal Records Bureau has changed to 
The Disclosure & Barring Service (CRB – 
DBS)

In December 2012 the functions of the CRB and 
the ISA (Independent Safeguarding Authority) 
were merged and are now carried out by the 
DBS. 

The paper part of a DVLA Driving Licence is 
not required if a photo card is held. Since June 2015, the paper counterpart to the 

photo card licence is not valid. Paper licences 
issued before 1998 when the photo card was 
introduced are still valid. 

Removal of tax disc – change in location 
description for internal licence plate in all 
vehicles. 

Since October 2014, the paper tax disc was no 
longer required to be displayed on a vehicle. 

Other proposed changes

Ref Summary of change Reason for proposed change

2.23 Death of Licence holder – 3 months to 
transfer vehicle licence. Previously 28 days, trade rep 3m.  

2.8 Right to Work Check – Immigration officer 
contact. Guidance issued by the Department of 

Transport states licensing authorities 
should carry out such a check. East of 
England Immigration have requested 
this check be carried out. 

3.11 Change in Age/Mileage Policy to allow 
vehicles up to 5 years, 70k. Up to 4 years 
80K. Up to 6 years 60K. Up to 7 years 50K. 

Representation from Trade. 

3.22 & 
3.38

Altered vehicles (not M1 spec) require Driver 
and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) 
Individual Vehicle approval (IVA) or Voluntary 

Advice from DVSA

37



Individual Vehicle Approval (VIVA) inspection 
must be undertaken and a satisfactory report 
produced. Cat A and B write offs will not be 
licensed. 

3.30 No bull bars Safety concerns

3.49 CCTV outward (no audio) for insurance 
purposes Issues raised internally regarding data 

control. 

3.72 Introduction of capability to have trailers (for 
luggage) and trailer plate. Requests from trade to tow trailers on 

licensed vehicles. 

5.3 Private hire vehicle signage – Dual system 
including either operator name or not Pre-
Booked Only – ‘Insurance invalid unless 
booked with operator’. 

Requests from trade to have generic 
signage on Private Hire Vehicles & to 
raise awareness to public. 

5.4 Reinstatement of vehicle licences – 
previously within 12 months, now 3m.

Condition originally created to allow 
vehicles under repair to be re-licensed if 
their licence expired during the repair 
period. 12m too long. 

6.4 Addition of novelty vehicles category New vehicle category to cover different 
novelty private hire vehicles, i.e. fire 
engine. 

7.34 Passenger Transport badge holders to inform 
BCKLWN if suspended or revoked. In the interests of Public Safety. 

7.35 The use of Electronic Cigarettes (e-cigs), 
Personal Vaporizers (PV) and Electronic 
Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS)  only 
permitted when not carrying fare paying 
passengers.

It is not clear until further research is 
undertaken whether such devices can 
cause harm or not. 

7.36 Suspension of driver/vehicle licenses for 
failure to provide required information, i.e. 
Medical/DBS/DVLA etc. 

Requirement to ensure necessary 
information is provided in the interests of 
public safety, during the course of a 
licence, particularly as moving to 3 and 
5 year licenses. 

8.28 Operators must ensure that non-licensed 
staff, i.e. controllers, cleaners etc behave in a 
civilised and appropriate manner when 
involved in the operation of the business. This 
includes discussion on social media sites. 

To prevent inappropriate behaviour. 

10.4 
(PP33

Addition of penalty points for Road Traffic Act 
offences, defective lights etc and failure to 

Light touch approach to minor traffic 
38



-
PP35)

comply with HC/PH legislation offences and breaches of legislation. 

Annex 
A

New accident/damage notification form Includes requirement to draw a diagram 
of the scene of the accident. 

Annex 
B

New ‘guidelines relating to the relevance of 
convictions’ policy. The current policy is based on a DFT 

circular which was circulated in 1992 
and is not fit for purpose. 

.

39



Internal licenc

Hackney Carriage 
And 

Private Hire

Licensing Procedures 
& Conditions

Appendix 2  to
 Report to Cabinet 

Re: Taxi Conditions

40



Table of Contents
Definitions Page 2
Mission Statement Page 3

Paragraph
Introduction 1.0

 The Borough Council’s Role in Taxi Licensing 1.2
 Licensing & Appeals Panel 1.17
 The Hearing 1.21
 Right of Appeal 1.27

Application Process 2.0
 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) & Right to Work Checks 2.2
 Driver’s Medical 2.10
 DVLA Mandate 2.11
 Knowledge Test 2.13
 Operators Application 2.14
 Vehicle Application 2.15
 Renewals Applications 2.19
 Refund of Licence Fees 2.21

All Vehicles 3.0
 Duration of Licence 3.2
 Vehicle Replacement 3.3
 Insurance 3.6
 Excise Licence & Registration documents 3.9
 Age Requirements 3.11
 Vehicle Licence Renewals 3.14
 Vehicle Specifications 3.18
 Carriage of Portable Oxygen Tanks 3.31
 Vehicle Testing Standards 3.32
 Accidents 3.41
 First Aid & Fire Equipment 3.42
 Radio Scanning Devices 3.48
 CCTV 3.49
 LPG 3.55
 Tinted Windows 3.59
 Advertising 3.64
 Licence Plates 3.66
 Complaints 3.72

Hackney Carriage Vehicles 4.0
 Wheelchair Accessible Specifications 4.2
 Insurance 4.10
 Transfer of Interest 4.13
 Taximeters 4.14
 Roof Signs 4.24
 Vehicle Inspections 4.28
 Unattended Taxis 4.35

141



Private Hire Vehicles 5.0
 Roof Signs 5.1
 Signage 5.2
 Change of Use 5.4
 Transfer 5.5

Special Event Vehicles 6.0
 Sale of Alcohol 6.2
 Types of Vehicle 6.3
 Age Requirements 6.4
 Licence Plate 6.7
 Dress Code 6.9
 Stretched Limousines 6.11
 Replacement parts 6.15
 Window tints 6.16
 Special Event Operators – Additional Requirements 6.17

Drivers 7.0
 General requirements 7.1
 Conduct of Driver 7.11
 Change of Address 7.12
 Change of Operator 7.13
 Convictions, Cautions, Driving Offences & Charges 7.14
 Badges 7.18
 Lost Property 7.27
 Animals 7.29
 Fare to be demanded/Receipts 7.32

Private Hire Operators 8.0
 General requirements 8.1
 Complaints 8.21
 Change of Address 8.22
 Convictions 8.23

Hackney Carriage Driver Byelaws 9.0
Penalty Points Systems 10.0
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (Summary of Offences) 11.0
LG (MP) Act 1976 (Hackney Carriage Provisions) 12.0
LG (MP) Act 1976 (Private Hire Provisions) 13.0
Vehicle Accident Notification Form Annex A
Guidelines relating to the relevance of convictions Annex B
Immediate revocation of HC/PH Driver’s Licence Annex C
HC & PH Vehicle Compliance Testing Standards (Code of 
Practice) Annex D

2 42



Definitions
 “Borough Council” means the Borough Council of King's Lynn & West 

Norfolk.
 “Authorised officer” means an officer of the Borough Council authorised in 

writing;
 “Driver's licence” means, in relation to the driver of a hackney carriage, a 

licence under section 46 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and, in relation 
to the driver of a private hire vehicle, a licence under section 51 of Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976;

 “Hackney carriage” means a carriage exposed for hire to the public, whether 
standing in the public street or a private yard. The name is derived from an 
old French word denoting an ambling horse or mare: Oxford English 
Dictionary;

 “Hackney carriage byelaws” means the byelaws for the time being in force 
in the controlled district of the Borough Council relating to hackney carriages;

 “Private Hire Vehicle” is a motor vehicle constructed or adapted to seat 
fewer than nine passengers, other than a hackney carriage or public 
service vehicle which is provided for hire with the services of a driver for 
the purpose of carrying passengers.  Private hire vehicles cannot ply for 
hire on a rank on be hailed in the street and must be pre-booked through a 
private hire operator licensed by the Borough Council.

 “Operate” means in the course of business to make provision for the invitation 
or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle;

 “Operator’s licence” means a licence issued by the Borough Council under 
section 55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976;

 “Taximeter” means any device for calculating the fare to be charged in 
respect of any journey in a hackney carriage by reference to the distance 
travelled or time elapsed since the start of the journey, or a combination of 
both;

 “Vehicle licence” means in relation to a hackney carriage a licence under 
sections 37 to 45 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and in relation to a 
private hire vehicle means a licence under section 48 of Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  Once a vehicle is licensed it remains so 
24/7 and must be driven at all times by a person who holds a combined 
driver’s licence issued by the Borough Council.

 “Special Event Vehicle” means a private hire vehicle exclusively used for 
special occasions.  For further information see Section 6.

 “Hackney Rank/Stand” A designated place adopted by the Borough Council 
where hackney carriages can wait the arrival of a hirer.

 “Notify the Borough Council” means notify the Licensing Team at the 
Borough Council in writing.

343



The Purpose of Licensing / Licensing Objectives 

The objective of the licensing regime is to ensure that, so far as possible, those 
licensed to drive Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles are suitable 
persons to do so, namely that they are safe drivers with good driving records and 
adequate experience, sober, mentally and physically fit, and honest; and that 
they are persons who would not take advantage of their position to abuse, 
assault or defraud customers. The general term used is a 'fit and proper' person.

This Authority expects all licensed vehicles to be maintained to the highest 
standard, and all vehicles to be kept to an 'exceptional' standard.

We also expect the Operators to provide first class customer service and advice 
to their customers, in order to promote the high quality we ourselves aim to bring 
to those who live in, work in, or visit the area.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk is situated in the 
County of Norfolk.   The Council area has a population of approximately 
149,000 making it the largest in the County in terms of population.  In 
terms of area it is also the largest, covering 1428.76 square kilometres 
(550 square miles).  The Borough area is mainly rural with urban areas of 
King’s Lynn, Downham Market and Hunstanton.  These areas are shown 
on the following map:

4 44



The Borough Council’s Role in Taxi Licensing

1.2 The Borough Council is responsible for the licensing of all hire vehicles 
which operate within the district, which are provided with a driver and 
operated with less than nine passenger seats.

1.3 There are two types of vehicle: public hire vehicles (hackney carriages) 
and vehicles which are only available by prior booking arrangement 
(private hire vehicles).  Although the description ‘taxi’ should only be 
applied to a hackney carriage any hire vehicle is usually known as a ‘taxi’ 
by the public.

1.4 Before any vehicle is licensed it must be tested at one of the Borough 
Council’s approved garages. The test covers the vehicle's mechanics and 
general appearance, which includes the comfort for passengers and the 
reliability of any meter fitted.

1.5 Private Hire vehicles may only undertake journeys in response to advance 
bookings. The Borough Council is also responsible for granting private hire 
operators licences for the premises at which these bookings are made.

1.6 The Borough Council is responsible for the licensing of the drivers of both 
classes of vehicle. Within the scope of legislation the Borough Council 
ensures that all drivers are ‘fit and proper persons’ to be licensed by 
carrying out checks on an applicant’s background.

1.7 The Borough Council issue dual driver’s licences to all successful 
applicants, which enables the holder to drive either a hackney carriage 
vehicle or a private hire vehicle provided that these vehicles are licensed 
by this authority.  

1.8 As part of ensuring drivers are suitable for the job, the Borough Council 
carries out enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service checks.  For more 
information, visit the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) website at 
www.gov.uk/government/.../disclosure-and-barring-service.  

1.9 The Borough Council also has a responsibility as the 'Enforcement 
Agency' of the drivers, vehicles and operators it has licensed.  
Enforcement covers offences related to ‘taxi’ legislation, driver’s 
behaviour, the condition of the vehicles and the investigation of complaints 
made against any licence holder.

1.10 As well as granting and issuing licences the Borough Council also has the 
power to suspend or revoke licences and take Court action if necessary 
against any offending licence holder.

1.11 Licensing and enforcement is carried out by Borough Council officers 
appointed ‘Authorised Officers’ for that purpose and they have been 
issued with written authority to do so as well as having a Borough Council 
identity badge.

545

http://www.gov.uk/government/disclosure-and-barring-service


Wheelchair accessible hire vehicles

1.12 There are a growing number of wheelchair accessible vehicles available in 
West Norfolk which are licensed by the Borough Council. All new Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles (plates 53 onwards) registered with the Borough 
Council must be wheelchair accessible.

1.13 The Borough Council welcomes views and information from the public 
regarding their needs for wheelchair accessible vehicles, the availability of 
currently licensed vehicles or what would help to provide an efficient ‘taxi’ 
service for people with physical disabilities.

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers Licences

1.14 In considering new applications for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers 
Licences and also any breaches during the currency of a licence, the 
Borough Council must be satisfied that drivers are fit and proper persons 
to hold a Licence.

1.15 In doing so, they must have regard to all convictions, police cautions, 
charges, driving convictions, complaints of unacceptable conduct 
/behaviour, breach of licence conditions and other convictions obtained 
during the course of a Licence, in accordance with the convictions policy 
(Annex B). 

1.16 When such circumstances occur the application may be referred to a 
Panel of the Licensing & Appeals Board for determination.

Referral to Panel of Licensing & Appeals Board

1.17 Where an applicant or a driver is referred to the Panel for consideration, 
they will be notified in writing of the reason and the date, time and venue 
of the Panel hearing.

1.18 They will be advised that they may bring a representative to the hearing. 
The representative may be a friend, legal representative or a 
representative from the trade whom they wish to assist them in addressing 
the Panel in support of their application/disciplinary hearing. But please 
note that any consultation with a representative should take place in 
advance of the hearing date and not just prior to the meeting. This will 
ensure that their case is well prepared for Panel consideration.

The Licensing & Appeals Panel

1.19 The Panel will consist of members made up of Borough Councillors. A 
Chairman is appointed to supervise the Committee during the process. 
The Committee may be advised by a legal representative. 

1.20 A number of Borough Council Officers may also attend the hearing, in an 
advisory capacity. However, they do not take part in the decision making 
process.

6 46



The Hearing

1.21 A number of applications and disciplinary matters could be considered on 
the day, including any historic matters. Each matter will be considered on 
its own merits and the public will be excluded to protect confidentiality 
were appropriate.  In these circumstances the public will not have access 
to the meeting unless the applicant requests that they should.

1.22 When a person is called to appear before the Panel they and their 
representative and any complainants will be guided to their seats. They 
will be asked if they have received a copy of the report regarding the 
circumstances surrounding their case. The Panel will already have a copy 
of the report. Where the case arises from a complaint, the complainant, if 
present, will be asked to explain their complaint to the Panel. They will 
then be given the opportunity to question the complainant.

1.23 They will be asked to describe the circumstances surrounding the 
convictions or incident concerned and asked to demonstrate to the Panel 
why they think they are a fit and proper person to hold a Hackney 
Carriage/ Private Hire Drivers Licence or why they feel disciplinary action 
should not be taken.

The Decision

1.24 When considering convictions, the Panel will have regard to the ‘Guidance 
relating to the relevance of convictions and cautions’ a copy of which is 
attached at Annex B.

1.25 After hearing the evidence and representations from all parties, the Panel 
will retire to make their decision.

1.26 As soon as the Panel have come to a decision they will to return to the 
room and inform the persons of their decision. The person will also be 
advised of the decision in writing together with their rights of appeal.  The 
Panel have a number of options which include the following: 

 Grant or refuse application
 Take no action
 Issue a verbal warning
 Suspend or revoke Licence
 Apply conditions to the licence
 Require driver to complete DSA and/or sit Borough Council’s 

Knowledge test, or any other action deemed appropriate.

Right of Appeal

1.27 If the Borough Council refuses the grant of a Vehicle, Operator or Drivers 
Licence, or in the case of a disciplinary hearing, decide to suspend or 
revoke a Drivers Licence or any other formal action, the person will have 

747



the right of appeal to a Magistrates’ Court.  In the case of refusal to grant a 
Hackney Carriage Proprietors Licence, appeal will be to the Crown Court.

General Advice

1.28 The Licensing & Appeal Panel is a formal meeting where members sit in a 
quasi-judicial manner. This means that the Panel has to act in a similar 
fashion to a Court or Tribunal. It is therefore important that persons 
appearing before Committee should behave and dress in an appropriate 
manner.

1.29 If a person appears before the Panel following a complaint about their 
conduct, they should not attempt to speak to the complainants / witnesses 
prior to the meeting as this could be deemed to be harassment.

Serving of Notices

1.30 Sub-sections (2) to (5) of S23 of the Local Government Act 1972 shall 
have effect and are incorporated in the conditions for vehicles, operators 
and drivers in relation to any notices required or authorised by the 
conditions to be given or served on the licensee by or on behalf of the 
Borough Council or any authorised officer.

8 48



2.0 Application Process

Driver Application

2.1 In addition to the application form, all applications for driver licences must 
be accompanied by the following:
1. Disclosure and Barring Service form (DBS);
2. Driver’s Medical;
3. DVLA Driving Licence – (photocard or paper licence) 
4. DVLA Mandate
5. Fees;
6. Passport Size Photograph certified as being a true likeness;
7. Driver Standard Agency (DSA) Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Test 

Assessment Pass Certificate.

Disclosure and Barring Service form (DBS) & Right to Work Check 

2.2 As part of the application process, the Applicant will obtain (with the 
applicants consent) a Disclosure and Barring Service check to ‘enhanced’ 
standard.  The Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk are a 
‘registered’ body with the DBS and as such, applications for disclosures 
must be made via this Authority on one of our pre-printed forms.  These 
are available from the Borough Council’s Licensing team.  When you 
return your completed form to this department you will be asked for a 
payment to cover the cost of the DBS process (A cheque should be made 
payable to BCKLWN). The DBS process takes can take up to 8 weeks. 
Applicants that already have a disclosure and have signed up to the online 
update service must provide the original disclosure certificate and the 
unique online reference number so the Council may access their record 
online. 

2.3 Once you have completed the form in Black Capital Letters return it to 
the Borough Council with the relevant identification. The information will be 
examined by a member of staff and the details entered onto the back page 
of the form. The Licensing Officer will check, sign and send your DBS form 
to the Disclosure and Barring Service. You will be required to provide us 
with a new Disclosure and Barring Service check every 3 years unless 
your licence expires beforehand, or you have signed up for the online 
update service. Should you wish to re-apply you would be required to 
submit a new DBS disclosure.

2.4 The Disclosure and Barring Service will send the Disclosure to the 
applicant. The original disclosure document must be produced to the 
Borough Council’s Licensing Team. A disclosure with no convictions will 
be processed; the disclosure number recorded and the date of issue will 
be entered onto our computer system. A Disclosure with conviction/s may 
not necessarily mean that you are not a “fit and proper” person to hold a 
licence. Borough Council officers only have delegated powers to deal with 
certain convictions. Depending on the type and age of conviction we may 
offer you a licence, refuse a licence under delegated powers or we may 

949



refer you to the licensing and appeals board to determine whether you are 
a “fit and proper” person. 

2.5 If an applicant has been resident in any other Country than the UK, 
preceding an application, a certificate of good conduct from an overseas 
embassy, or each overseas embassy where the applicant has lived, will be 
required in addition to the Disclosure and Barring Service Disclosure.

2.6 Usage.  Information revealed on a DBS Disclosure will only be used 
for the purpose of determining an application in relation to hackney 
carriages or private hire licensing.  

2.7 Retention.  The Borough Council will retain a copy of the Disclosure and 
Barring Service Disclosure. The information contained on the original 
Disclosure is required for the Borough Council to complete a check with 
those subscribed to the DBS online update service. 

Right to Work Check

2.8 All applicants must provide documentation to prove that they have the 
right to work in the United Kingdom. A ‘Right to work Checklist’ providing a 
list of valid documentation can be found on the Home Office website. An 
application from a person who cannot provide the necessary 
documentation will be refused by officers under delegated authority. 

Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1988

2.9 Applicants for taxi and private hire licensing are exempt from the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1988.  Therefore all convictions, regardless 
of how long ago may be taken in consideration when determining 
applications.  However, in the determining the relevance of convictions the 
Panel will take into account the type of offence, the age of the applicant at 
the time of the offence and the apparent seriousness of the offence.

Driver’s Medical

2.10 A medical will be required upon initial application and must be carried out 
by a registered Medical Practitioner. The driver’s application pack contains 
the medical form, which your doctor will be required to complete.  
Subsequent medicals will be required at age 45, then every five years 
after the age of 45 and then annually from the age of 65 years.  A driver 
under the age of 65 with a controlled medical condition may also be 
required to under go a full medical annually.

DVLA Driving Licence & Mandate

2.11 You will need to supply your DVLA driving licence with your current 
address. Holders of Photo-card only driving licences are required to supply 
the photo card and holders of paper licences are required to provide their 
paper part. There is a DVLA mandate form in each application pack which 

1050



must be completed and signed. This will be sent to the DVLA to obtain 
your driving licence history. This process takes an average of two weeks.

Fees

2.12 Applications with all the relevant supporting documentation will not be 
accepted without the appropriate fee.  Please note that the Borough 
Council no longer accepts ‘cash’ and payment must be made by either 
cheque or credit/debit card.  Any licence in respect of which the licence 
fee has been paid by cheque shall not be effective until the cheque has 
been cleared. 

Please note: If you have 9 or more current penalty points and/or any previous 
convictions appear on your DVLA driving licence we may refer your application to 
a Panel of the Licensing & Appeals Board to ascertain whether you are a ‘fit and 
proper’ person to hold a licence.

Knowledge Test  

2.13 You will need to pass the Borough Council’s Knowledge Test as part of 
the application process.  The test will include multi-choice questions on 
Licensing Conditions, the Highway Code, knowledge of the area and 
literacy and numeracy and it will be conducted by Licensing at the 
Borough Council.

Operators Application 

2.14 Any person who receives bookings or has contracts for the hire and 
reward for a private hire vehicle is required to hold an operators licence. 
The application must be accompanied with a list of vehicles and drivers 
used by the operator. An operator must be a ‘fit and proper person’ and is 
therefore subject to a DBS check (see above).

Vehicle Application

2.15 A vehicle application can be processed within 3 days if all the relevant 
information has been supplied as below and the vehicle meets current 
conditions (i.e. age/mileage). 

2.16 Registration Document or Bill of Sale.  For initial applications only you 
will need to prove that you are the lawful keeper of the vehicle by providing 
an original copy of the vehicles V5 (vehicle registration document).  A a bill 
of sale for that vehicle may be produced if the V5 is not available but the 
bill must include the date of first registration and the original V5 document 
must be produced within a calendar month.

2.17 Insurance Certificate.  To enable us to licence a vehicle we require sight 
of an original valid insurance policy, and schedule or cover note for that 
vehicle covering the vehicle for Private Hire and/or Hackney Carriage 
work.  Faxed or email copies of insurance documents are acceptable 
provided it is sent direct from the insurance company.

1151



2.18 Vehicle Inspection/MOT.  All vehicles licensed by this Authority require 
inspection at an approved garage (a list of approved garages can be found 
on the vehicle application form).  

Renewal Applications

Vehicle Licence

2.19 Vehicle renewal applications will be accepted up to one calendar month 
before they are due to expire providing the MOT certificate is no more than 
one calendar month older than the renewal date. Vehicle licences will not 
be granted an earlier renewal date than their current expiry date.  Vehicle 
Registration documents (V5C) are not required to be produced upon 
renewal of a vehicle licence, providing there has been no material 
changes to that vehicle/document during the proceeding licence period.

Combined Driver Licence & Private Hire Operator

2.20 Combined Driver Licence renewals will be accepted up to one calendar 
month before they are due to expire. 

Other than insurance documents sent by email or fax direct from the insurance 
company all documentation must be originals. Photocopies, scanned or fax copy 
in other circumstances is not acceptable under any circumstances

Refund of Licence Fees – (not applicable to Insurance/lease vehicles)

2.21 In the event that a driver, vehicle or operator licence is not granted then 
the Borough Council will refund the licence fee.  This does not however 
apply to the fees paid to other organisations, e.g. DBS, Compliance test 
etc.

2.22 Should a vehicle or operator licence be surrendered during the life of the 
licence then a pro-rata refund will be given for the unexpired portion of the 
licence.  The date will be calculated from the date the licence is returned 
to the Borough Council.  Refunds will not be given for licences that are 
revoked.

Death of Licence Holder  

2.23 A licence will immediately lapse in the event of death of the licence holder. 
In the case of a vehicle licence, a licence may be transferred using the 
normal procedure within 3 calendar months. A private hire operator licence 
may not be transferred into another person’s name. 

1252



3.0 All Vehicles

3.1 The Borough Council will not grant or renew a licence unless satisfied that 
the vehicle is suitable to be a licensed vehicle, is in a suitable mechanical 
condition, safe and comfortable.

Duration of Licence

3.2 A vehicle licence, once granted, will be issued for a maximum period of 
one year, except in the case of a vehicle replacement; see Condition 3.4 
(below).

Vehicle Replacement

3.3 Where a vehicle is off the road due to accident damage, subject to 
satisfactory documentary evidence being produced to the authorised 
officer, the Borough Council may allow a replacement vehicle that meets 
the Borough Council’s criteria for a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle. 

3.4 The vehicle will be licensed as a replacement for the accident damaged 
vehicle for a period not exceeding 3 months. A 50% reduction to the 
normal application fee and a full licence plate fee will be required. 

3.5 Whilst being repaired, the vehicle licence will be temporarily suspended 
and the licence plate must be returned to the authority.  Once repaired, a 
new vehicle inspection report may be required and the suspended licence 
may be re-instated.

Insurance

3.6 A vehicle must have a current certificate of insurance or cover note which 
clearly covers the use to which the vehicle is to be put.

3.7 It shall be the responsibility of the proprietor of a licensed vehicle to 
produce proof of continuous insurance cover.  The insurance proof is to be 
reviewed by the licensing authority within seven days of the expiry of the 
preceding certificate or cover note.

3.8 If the proprietor fails to produce a certificate of insurance cover on request 
he shall produce it forthwith or within seven clear days of the request to an 
authorised officer of the Borough Council.  Failure to comply may result in 
the immediate suspension of the vehicle licence by authorised officers 
using delegated authority.  The suspension will remain in place until a 
satisfactory certificate of insurance is produced. 

Excise Licence (Road Tax) & Vehicle Registration Document (V5)

3.9 There should be a valid excise licence for the vehicle.

1353



3.10 A full vehicle registration document must be produced at the grant of a 
licence, or as soon as is reasonable - and following any change to the 
original document.

Age Requirement 

3.11 All Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles will not normally be 
considered for licensing unless they are under 5 years of age from date of 
first registration (date as shown on DVLA registration document) and 
accrued less than 70,000 miles. Vehicles presented for licensing outside 
these criteria will be dealt with as follows:

3.12 Vehicles that are:

3.12.1 over 5 but less than 6 years old with 60,000 miles or less; or
3.12.2 over 6 years but less than 7 years old with 50,000 or less; or
3.12.3 less than 4 years old with 80, 000 miles or less;

May be considered by authorised officers of the Borough Council using 
delegated authority who may grant the licence if the vehicle is considered 
‘exceptional’. 

3.13 In the following list are factors that will be taken into consideration in 
determining ‘exceptional’, but it is not exhaustive:

 Condition of bodywork (e.g. no dents, scratches, stone, chips or rust 
around wheel arches);

 Original manufacturer’s colour and trim combination;
 Clean and immaculate interior, in original condition, free of damage 

and with only minor wear and tear;
 Full service history showing regular service dates;
 Full documentation (i.e. garage receipts showing schedule of works 

carried out);

3.14 Renewal of Vehicle Licences.  Renewal applications for Hackney 
Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles will only be granted up to the 10th 
anniversary of first vehicle registration (date as shown on DVLA V5 
registration document) regardless of mileage or the date the licence is 
renewed.  Vehicles that are:

3.14.1 Over 10 years but less than 12 years with 240,000 miles or 
less; or

3.14.2 Over 12 years but less than 14 years with 200,000 miles or 
less; or

3.14.3 Over 14 years with less than 160,000 miles

May be granted by authorised officers of the Borough Council using 
delegated authority provided the vehicle is considered ‘exceptional’ (see 
Condition 3.13 above).  Vehicles will only be considered under this 
condition no earlier than one calendar month before the 10th anniversary.

1454



3.15 Any vehicles presented for licensing that do not meet the above criteria 
will be refused by authorised officers using delegated powers.  Applicants 
may appeal these decisions to the Magistrates’ Court, or in case of a 
hackney carriage appeal to the Crown Court.

Exceptions to Age Requirement

3.16 Special Event Vehicles are exempt from the general age policy and fall 
into the following categories:

3.16.1 Executive Vehicles presented for licensing for the first time must 
not be older than 3 years on the day the application is 
received.

3.16.2 American Stretch Limousines presented for licensing for the 
first time must not be older than 7 years on the day the 
application is received.

3.16.3 Historic Vehicles presented for licensing for the first time must 
not be constructed after 1st January 1973. Note: In accordance 
with DVLA taxation class for Historic Vehicles.

3.17 Vehicles not meeting the above criteria may be granted by authorised 
officers of the Borough Council using delegated authority provided the 
vehicle is considered ‘exceptional’ (see Condition 3.13 above).

Vehicle Specifications

3.18 The vehicle shall have four side opening doors (designed for the purpose 
of permitting persons access to/from the interior) - any lift-up tailgate shall 
not be included; or a vehicle shall have three side opening doors 
(designed for the purpose of permitting persons access to/from the 
interior) and two rear opening doors (designed for the purpose of 
permitting persons access to/from the interior).

3.19 Any vehicle’s suitability for licensing will also be determined by the 
positioning of its seating, fittings and fixtures for the ingress and egress of 
passengers and their safety.

3.20 Other than a vehicle classed as a special event vehicle the vehicle must 
be right-hand drive.

3.21 The vehicle must have European Community Whole Vehicle Type 
Approval (ECWVTA) and must show category M1 on the V5C/logbook. 

3.22 If the requirements in Condition 3.21 above cannot be satisfied, or if the 
vehicle has been altered from the original manufacturers specification, 
then a Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) Individual Vehicle 
approval (IVA) or Voluntary Individual Vehicle Approval (VIVA) inspection 
must be undertaken and a satisfactory report produced. 

1555



3.23 In the case of a Private Hire vehicle its appearance must not lead people 
to believe it is a Hackney Carriage Vehicle.

3.24 No vehicle will be licensed unless it can accommodate at least four 
passengers.

3.25 The vehicle must have seats with a minimum width of not less than 
400mm per person.  

3.26 The vehicle shall be fitted with appropriate seatbelts to the front and rear 
seats of the vehicle. 

3.27 All wheelchair accessible vehicles shall be properly equipped with properly 
mounted fittings for the safe securing of a wheelchair and a passenger 
seated in it, when carried in the vehicle.  

3.28 If a mechanical hoist is fitted to the vehicle this will be required to be 
inspected annually by the manufacturer or his approved agent and a 
certificate produced to that effect.

3.29 Estate versions of saloon vehicles fitted with seats in the rear luggage 
compartment will be licensed for a maximum of 4 passengers.

Roof /Boot Racks & Bullbars

3.30 No roof, boot racks or bullbars may be fitted to Licensed Hackney 
Carriages during the currency of the licence.

Carriage of Portable Oxygen Tanks

3.31 Hackney carriage/private hire vehicle drivers will accept the carriage of 
portable oxygen tanks for passengers that require their usage for medical 
purposes.

Vehicle Test Standards

Vehicle Testing
 
3.32 No vehicle shall be first licensed or re-licensed unless the vehicle has 

passed the vehicle inspection at one of the Borough Council’s approved 
testing stations. All Hackney Carriage & Private Hire vehicles after 5 years 
(date as shown on DVLA V5 registration document) shall have a vehicle 
compliance test at an approved Vehicle Testing Station every 6 months.  
In addition, an authorised officer of the Borough Council may inspect all 
vehicles for first licensing and upon renewal.

3.33 The Borough Council will not grant/renew a vehicle licence unless the 
person examining it (on behalf of the Borough Council) has confirmed that 
it meets the standards specified in The Borough Council’s Hackney 
Carriage & Private Hire Vehicle Compliance Testing Standards Code of 
Practice (See Annex C) and, at the same time, the vehicle has been 

1656



certified roadworthy to MOT standard and has a current MOT certificate. 
Vehicles of a class that are not subject to ‘EU Type approval’ and are 
being tested for the first time will be additionally tested to ensure tyres and 
any other aspect of the vehicle are safe and mechanically sound for the 
benefit of passenger.  

3.34 Costs of such testing is payable by the person wishing to licence the 
vehicle. In addition the history of the vehicle may be taken into 
consideration when determining whether the vehicle should be licensed.

3.35 The 6 monthly compliance test certificate required for vehicles over 5 
years old (see 3.32 above) must be produced to the Borough Council 
within 7 days of the date of the test. Tests can be carried out by an 
approved testing station up to one calendar month before the 6 monthly 
point of the licence. 

3.36 A vehicle which fails an inspection/safety check during the currency of a 
licence with The Borough Council will have the fault(s) rectified and the 
vehicle re-inspected at the same testing station within 2 months of the 
original inspection – failure to do so will lead to the automatic revocation of 
the vehicle licence.

3.37 A vehicle may be inspected by an authorised officer of the Borough 
Council or a Police Officer, at any reasonable time. If the person 
inspecting the vehicle is not satisfied as to the fitness of the vehicle he 
may give written notice to the proprietor/operator to make the vehicle 
available for further inspection and testing at such reasonable time and 
place as may be specified and the vehicle licence may be suspended until 
the authorised officer or police officer is so satisfied. If the authorised 
officer or police officer is not satisfied within two months of the initial 
inspection the Vehicle licence shall be deemed revoked. An authorised 
officer or police officer may permit other persons to examine the vehicle on 
their behalf (e.g. VOSA). 

Altered Vehicles

3.38 (a) Any vehicle which has been altered from the original manufacturers  
specification, re-registered or has been an insurance loss (categories C 
and D only) shall only be considered for licensing if the vehicle has been 
subjected to a satisfactory IVA or VIVA test (engineers report) from the 
Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA).

(b) Vehicles without a DVSA engineers report will only be considered for 
licensing if they have been built to the manufacturers original specification. 

(c) The IVA test is appropriate for vehicles not previously registered in the 
UK, and a VIVA for vehicles registered in the UK to prove compliance.

(d) Category A and B write offs will not be considered fit for licensing.

1757



Vehicle Inspections

3.39 All vehicles being presented for testing at the approved Borough Council 
testing station shall be in clean condition to allow the tester to inspect the 
vehicle. The tester may refuse to test a vehicle that does not conform to 
this requirement.  

Exterior Bodywork and Wheel trims

3.40 The bodywork of the vehicle shall be in good condition and shall be as 
originally fitted by the manufacturer. Wheel trims must be fitted to all road 
wheels where part of the manufacturer’s original specification.

Vehicle Accidents / Damage to Vehicle

3.41 (a) The proprietor of a private hire/hackney carriage vehicle must report to 
the Borough Council (by way of a prescribed accident notification and 
vehicle damage form) as soon as possible or in any event within 72 hours, 
any accident or incident which has caused damage to the vehicle or to any 
other property (i.e. other vehicle, fence post etc).  

(b) An example of the accident notification and vehicle damage form is 
attached at Annex A. Forms for completion can be obtained from the 
Borough Council.

(c) It is not necessary to report a stone chip or other similar very minor 
damage to a licensed vehicle provding no damage has been caused to a 
person or property, and the damage would pass a compliance test. 

First Aid and Fire Equipment

3.42 The following equipment shall be provided and maintained in all licensed 
vehicles at all times.

Fire Extinguisher

3.43 To be carried in such a position as to be readily accessible and available 
in any emergency.  The fire extinguisher should be either a 1kg dry 
powder or a 2 litre AFFF.  Fire extinguishers must be maintained in 
accordance with BS5306 Part 3 i.e. they must have an annual service, a 
five-yearly service and refilled.  These tests must be carried out by a 
BAFE certified engineer and new tags and seals must be placed on each 
extinguisher after inspection.

 
3.44 Unique identification tags will be provided for each extinguisher and must 

be affixed to the extinguisher at all times.

First Aid

1858



3.45 The first-aid kit is for self-administration only. The following contents must 
be presented in a suitable container marked ‘First Aid’ positioned so that it 
is readily available for use:

 10 x medifresh antiseptic wipes or equivalent
 1 x 7.5cm bandage
 2 x triangular bandages
 24 x assorted plasters
 3 x large ambulance dressings
 2 x eye pads and elastic to secure
 12 x assorted safety pins
 1 x pair scissors
 2 x pairs disposable gloves

Change of Address

3.46 A licence holder on changing address shall notify the Borough Council, in 
writing, of such change within 7 days.

Citizen Band Radios

3.47 No citizen band radios may be fitted in any Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire Vehicle whilst it is licensed.

Radio Scanning Devices

3.48 No radio scanning devices of whatsoever type or sort may be fitted to, 
carried in or used in or in the vicinity of any Hackney Carriage or Private 
Hire Vehicle during the currency of the licence.

CCTV Cameras

3.49 Licensed Vehicle proprietor may, subject to the written approval of the 
Borough Council, install and use a visible closed circuit TV surveillance 
camera in their vehicles which face outward and are for insurance 
purposes only. The camera must not record audio sound within the 
vehicle. 

3.50 There is no requirement to display signage where outward only facing 
cameras are fitted. 

Upholstery

3.51 All upholstery shall be clean and in a well maintained condition. No tear, 
crack, hole or burn will be acceptable other than ‘fair, wear & tear’. 
Upholstery includes seats, headrests, armrests, carpets and other trim.

Ventilation

3.52 All vehicles shall have suitable and adequate ventilation.

1959



Fittings

3.53 All fittings shall be properly maintained and in good working order. Fittings 
include clocks, interior lights, sun blinds, door surrounds, grab handles, 
other equipment provided for passenger comfort and any equipment in, on 
or forming part of the vehicle including wheelchair ramps and securing 
fitments where the vehicle is to be licensed to carry wheelchair bound 
passengers.

Roof and Floor Coverings

3.54 These should be clean and in good condition, with no tears or other 
damage.

LPG Conversions for existing licensed vehicles

3.55 Any vehicle proprietor converting their licensed vehicle to run on Liquid 
Petroleum Gas (LPG) must notify the Borough Council of such change 
and comply with the following conditions.  

 LPG systems must be fitted in accordance with LPGA Code of Practice 
11.

 That the vehicle displays on the front and rear screens, a sticker 
stating that the vehicle has been fitted with a LPG tank for the purpose 
of alerting the emergency services in the event of an accident.

 If a doughnut tank is fitted in the spare wheel well of the boot, the 
spare wheel must be securely placed in a position not obstructing the 
entire luggage space.

 The proprietor of the vehicle must notify DVLA Swansea of the change 
in fuel from petrol to both LPG and petrol.

 The vehicle must be annually serviced by a person competent in LPG 
powered vehicles.

New applicants - Vehicles Powered by Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG)

3.56 An applicant for a licence involving a vehicle which has been converted to 
run on LPG will be required to produce, prior to a licence being issued, a 
certificate stating that the LPG system has been fitted in accordance with 
LPGA Code of Practice 11.

3.57 The vehicle will be required to undergo an annual service by a person 
competent in LPG powered vehicles in addition to the Borough Councils 
Manual of Inspection Standards.

3.58 If an LPG conversion involves installation of an LPG fuel tank in a 
vehicle’s boot space (and possible relocation of the spare wheel) it shall 
be a requirement that an amount of space shall remain free for the storage 
of a reasonable amount of luggage and any spare wheel displaced as a 

2060



result must be stored in a location that does not impinge on the passenger 
carrying area of a vehicle.

Tinted Windows.

3.59 No glass, with the exception of a tinted sun-strip along the top of the 
windscreen, shall be tinted to such an extent as to obscure the view of the 
inside of the vehicle under normal workshop lighting conditions from a 
distance of 4 metres. Stretched Limousines are exempt from this 
requirement. 

Unfit Vehicle Notices

3.60 Unfit Vehicle notices can be issued by Authorised Officers and Police 
Officers where vehicle defects give cause for concern.

3.61 Immediate Unfit Notices will be given if the vehicle appears to be unsafe to 
carry members of the public.  Once a Notice is issued the vehicle must not 
be used for hire with immediate effect. The vehicle must be presented to 
either an officer or the Borough Councils approved testing station with the 
faults rectified.  Only after this will the Notice be lifted and the vehicle can 
then be used for hire.

3.62 If the Notice is not lifted within two-months, the vehicle licence will be 
deemed revoked. 

3.63 Deferred Notices can be issued which means the vehicle can continue to 
be used for the time specified and the faults rectified within a specified 
time. When the faults are rectified the vehicle must be presented to a 
Borough Council approved testing station for inspection.

Advertising on outside of vehicle

3.64 The Borough Council will allow advertisements to be placed upon a 
vehicle subject to the following:

 The proprietor of a licensed vehicle shall not display or permit to be 
displayed on the vehicle any sign or advertisement whatsoever unless 
written permission has been obtained from the Borough Council.

 Advertising is to be limited to the back door panels of licensed vehicles 
only.  Advertising on parts of the vehicle in addition to the back door 
panels may be considered but only after prior written approval of the 
Borough Council has been given. However, no advertising will be 
permitted on the windows of the vehicle.

 All advertisements shall comply with the British Code of Advertising 
Practice and shall be in a form acceptable to the Advertising Standards 
Authority.  The Borough Council reserves the right to require the 
licensee to withdraw from display any advertisement which may be 
considered inaccurate, misleading, unlawful, defamatory, in bad taste 
or of an unacceptable standard.

2161



 No advertisement will be permitted that relates to or advertises alcohol, 
nudity, gambling, smoking materials or others of a political nature.

 The same advertising must be displayed on the nearside and offside 
doors of vehicles.

 Any advertising may cover both back doors.
 Advertising may not be stuck over door trims.  Door trims may not be 

removed to accommodate advertising.
 In the case of Private Hire Vehicles advertising is subject to the specific 

exclusion of the words "taxi", "cab" or "hire" the use of which will not be 
permitted.

3.65 The Borough Council reserves the right to withdraw from display any 
advertisement which may be considered inaccurate, misleading, unlawful, 
defamatory, in bad taste or of an unacceptable standard.

Vehicle Identification
External Licence Plate

3.66 The vehicle licence plate shall be securely fixed and displayed outside and 
on the rear of the vehicle and shall be clearly visible during daylight hours 
from a distance of not less than 5 metres. The licence plate must not 
obstruct any signage prescribed by the Borough Council or any lights or 
the vehicles registration mark. Any items such as towbars must not 
obstruct the licence plate.

3.67 The licence plate shall be displayed in a vertical position and firmly fixed to 
the outside of the vehicle at the rear. The plate must be prominently 
displayed as to be readily visible to members of the public and that the 
figures and numbers endorsed thereon are distinct and legible.

3.68 The licence plate is the property of The Borough Council to whom it must 
be returned within 7 days of demand if the licence is suspended, revoked 
or not renewed for any reason.  Authorised officers are entitled to 
physically remove the plate from the vehicle and retain it where necessary.

Internal Licence 

3.69 The internal vehicle licence shall be fixed and displayed inside the front 
windscreen on the passenger side of the vehicle in the bottom corner and 
must not be obstructed. 

Reporting a Lost, Damaged or Stolen Licence Plate

3.70 The vehicle proprietor/licensee shall inform the Borough Council within 72 
hours should the licence plate become lost, damaged or stolen. If lost or 
stolen, the matter shall be reported to the police and a relevant reference 
number shall be required (i.e. Crime Number or Lost Property reference).

List of drivers to be maintained

2262



3.71 The vehicle proprietor/licensee shall maintain a list of names and 
addresses of all persons that have use of that licensed vehicle. The list 
shall be made available to authorised officers upon request.

Trailers attached to Licensed Vehicles

3.72 The proprietor of a licensed vehicle may attach a trailer for carrying 
luggage when required, subject to the completion of the relevant 
application, and providing that an external trailer licence plate is affixed to 
the rear of the trailer. The licence plate must be the same as the vehicle 
licence plate, with the addition of a trailer symbol. 

3.72.1 Trailers can not be used by Hackney Carriage 
vehicles  when plying for hire on a Hackney Carriage 
Stand. 

3.72.2 The trailer must at all times comply with all Road 
Traffic  legislation requirements, in particular those 
laid down in the Road Vehicles (Construction and 
use) Regulations 1986

3.73  Trailers must comply with the following standards:

(i) Unbraked trailers shall be less than 750kg gross weight

(ii) Trailers over 750kg gross weight shall be braked acting on at 
least 2 road wheels. 

(iii) The towing vehicle must have a kerb weight at least twice 
the gross weight of the trailer. 

(iv) A suitable lid or other approved means of enclosure shall be 
fitted to secure the contents within the trailer whenever in 
use.

(v) The maximum permissible length of the trailer shall be 7 
metres including the drawbar and coupling. 

(vi) The width of the trailer shall not be greater than the towing 
vehicle subject to no trailer being wider than 2.3 metres. 

(vii) The maximum length for braked axle trailers is 5.54 metres. 

4.0 Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

4.1 The following are conditions attached to the hackney carriage vehicle 
licence. These conditions are additional to the requirements imposed upon 
proprietors by the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Breach of any of these 
conditions may lead to suspension or revocation of the licence and/or 
prosecution. These conditions are equally applicable when the hackney 
carriage is being used for private hire purposes.

2363



Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle Specifications 

Restriction on Numbers of Licensed Vehicles

4.2 The Borough Council does not restrict the number of hackney carriage 
licences that it issues.  Licence numbers 1 to 52 may be saloon vehicles 
but any additional hackney licenses issued, i.e 53 onwards must be 
wheelchair accessible and comply with the Borough Council’s age policy.

First Registration

4.3 Any additional Hackney Carriage Vehicle licenses issued must be 
wheelchair accessible (plate 53 onwards) and comply with condition 3.13.

Wheelchair Occupant Space 

4.4 A wheelchair space shall not be less than:
 1200mm measured in the longitudinal plane of the vehicle 
 750mm measured in the transverse plane of the vehicle
 1300mm measured vertically from any part of the floor of the 

wheelchair space. 
A wheelchair space shall allow the carriage of a wheelchair and a 
wheelchair user.

Lifts/Ramps

4.5 Access to the vehicle must be possible from the road or pavement either 
by a lift or ramp. Any power-operated device must be capable of manual 
operation in the event of a power failure. The boarding device must have a 
safe working load of 300kg and operate under normal loading conditions 
without undue deflection.

24

1200mm

1300mm

750mm

64



Ramps 

4.6 A ramp should be of slip resistance material and at least 750mm in width. 
The ramp should be capable of being deployed both onto the road and 
onto a 125mm high kerb.  The ramp when deployed should be securely 
located at the point of entry to the vehicle. For side loading the ramp when 
deployed to the pavement should not exceed a slope of 1:4.  For rear 
loading the ramp when deployed to the road should not exceed 1:4.  When 
not in use the ramp should be securely stored in such a manner as not to 
block any of the vehicle doors and not to present a hazard to the vehicle 
occupants.

Lifts

4.7 The lift platform must be not less than 750mm in width and not less than 
1200mm in length.  The ramp should be equipped with a device to prevent 
the wheelchair rolling off and should operate at a vertical speed of less 
than 0.15m/s.

Wheelchair securing mechanism anchorage

4.8 A 4 point anchorage system must be fitted, comprising two for attachment 
at the front of the wheelchair and two at the rear of the wheelchair, in 
accordance with ISO 10542-2.

Wheelchair securing mechanism

4.9 A suitable securing mechanism must be provided to secure the wheelchair 
in position and the wheelchair should be locked in place before the journey 
commences. The occupant of the wheelchair must be provided with an 
occupant restraining system (seatbelt).

Insurance 

4.10 The proprietor shall keep in force, in relation to the use of the hackney 
carriage, a policy of insurance in respect of public hire and complying with 
the provisions of Section 145 of Part VIA Road Traffic Act 1988 which 
covers third party liability both in respect of physical injury or death and in 
respect of damage to personal belongings.  The certificate of insurance 
and schedule must be produced, on demand to an authorised officer of the 
Borough Council for inspection.

4.11 It shall be the responsibility of the proprietor of a hackney carriage to 
produce proof of continuous insurance cover in respect of public hire.  The 
insurance proof is to be reviewed by the licensing authority within seven 
days of the expiry of the preceding certificate or cover note.

4.12 If the proprietor fails to produce a certificate of insurance cover on request 
he shall produce it forthwith or within seven clear days of the request to an 

2565



authorised officer of the Borough Council.  Failure to comply may result in 
suspension of the Hackney Carriage Vehicle licence.

Transfer of interest in the vehicle

4.13 If a proprietor of a licensed hackney carriage vehicle transfers his interest, 
in whole or in part, in the vehicle to any other person not specified in the 
vehicle licence he must notify the Borough Council within 14 days using 
the appropriate form.  The form must be accompanied by the fee and 
supporting documents. 

Taximeters 

4.14 All Hackney Carriage vehicles licensed or to be licensed shall have a 
taximeter fitted.  Each taximeter shall be tested by one of the Borough 
Council’s approved testing stations in order to establish that the meter 
reflects the fares prescribed in the current Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff 
approved by the Borough Council. 

4.15 The taximeter shall be placed in a safe position and so far as possible so 
that all letters and figures on the face thereof shall be at all times plainly 
visible to any persons being conveyed in the carriage.  For that purpose, 
the letter and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during 
the period of hiring.

4.16 The driver of a hackney carriage shall, at the commencement of the 
journey, activate the meter so that the word ‘Hired’ is clearly visible and 
shall keep the meter operating until the termination of the hiring – 
‘Commencement of the journey’ means:

 When the hirer enters the vehicle.
 When the driver has attended at an appointed place, and has made his 

presence known to the hirer.
 When the driver has presented him/herself at an appointed place at a 

specified time.

4.17 The driver of a Hackney Carriage Vehicle shall when standing or plying for 
hire keep the taximeter locked in the position in which no fare is recorded 
on the face of the taximeter and operate a sign, which shall bare the words 
‘For Hire’ in clear legible letters. 

4.18 Any taximeter fitted to a Hackney Carriage Vehicle, which has been 
adjusted or repaired shall have the taximeter retested by one of the 
Borough Council’s approved testing stations. 

4.19 The taximeter shall clearly display a fare not exceeding the rate or fare 
approved by the Borough Council. 

4.20 The taximeter and all the fitting thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage 
with security seals or other appliances that it shall not be practicable for 

2666



any person to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or 
permanently disabling the security seals.

 
Inspection of Vehicle and Taxi Meter

4.21 A taxi meter fitted to a licensed vehicle may be inspected by an authorised 
officer of the Borough Council or by a Police Officer at all reasonable 
times.

4.22 If the officer or constable inspecting the vehicle is not satisfied as to the 
fitness of the vehicle or the accuracy of the meter, he may without 
prejudice to the taxi meter condition, give written notice to the proprietor to 
make the Hackney Carriage and/or taxi meter available for further 
inspection and testing at such reasonable time and place as may be 
specified, and the vehicle licence may be suspended until the officer or 
constable is satisfied as to the vehicles fitness or as to the accuracy of the 
taxi meter.

4.23 If the officer or constable is not so satisfied within two months of the initial 
inspection, the Hackney Carriage Licence shall be deemed revoked.

Roof Signs

4.24 All Hackney Carriage vehicles must be fitted with roof-mounted signs.

4.25 Roof signs fitted upon a Hackney Carriage Vehicle must be white in colour 
and shall be securely fitted to the vehicle and must be of a  design and 
shape approved by the Borough Council.

4.26 All Hackney Carriage Vehicle roof signs shall display the wording ‘taxi’ on 
the front. The sign shall be capable of being illuminated internally in such a 
manner that the word ‘TAXI’, is illuminated at all times when the vehicle is 
plying for hire, but not otherwise. 

4.27 All wording shall be black in colour and the word ‘TAXI’ must be readable 
from a distance of 20 metres. 

Vehicle Inspections

4.28 A vehicle which fails a compliance inspection/safety check during the 
currency of a licence will have the fault (s) rectified and the vehicle re-
inspected within 2 months of the original inspection – failure to do so will 
lead to the automatic revocation of the vehicle licence.

4.29 A Hackney Carriage may be inspected by an authorised officer of the 
Borough Council or a police officer, at all reasonable times.  If the person 
inspecting the vehicle is not satisfied as to the fitness of the vehicle he 
may give written notice to the proprietor to make the vehicle available for 
further inspection and testing at such reasonable time and place as may 
be specified, and the vehicle licence may be suspended until the officer or 
police officer is so satisfied.

2767



4.30 If the authorised officer or police officer is not so satisfied within two 
months of the initial inspection the Hackney Carriage vehicle licence shall 
be deemed revoked.

Alteration of Vehicle

4.31 During the currency of the Licence, no material alteration or change in the 
specification, design, condition or appearance of the vehicle shall be made 
without the prior written approval of the Borough Council.  All vehicles 
must have four doors with the exception of purpose built vehicles.

Passengers

4.32 The proprietor or owner of a Licensed Hackney Carriage shall not permit 
to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons than prescribed 
on the licence for the vehicle.

4.33 The driver of a Licensed Hackney Carriage shall not, without the consent 
of the hirer of the vehicle, convey or permit to be conveyed any other 
person in the vehicle.

4.34 A driver shall not refuse to carry fewer persons than the number marked 
on the plate.

Unattended Taxis

4.35 No Hackney Carriage may be left on a taxi rank designated by Section 65 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or a Local Traffic 
Order without a licensed driver in attendance to take care of it whilst plying 
for hire.

2868



Pre-Booked Only
INSURANCE INVALID UNLESS

BOOKED WITH OPERATOR

5.0 Private Hire Vehicles

Roof Signs

5.1 The Borough Council will not permit a Private Hire vehicle to be fitted with 
a roof-mounted sign of any kind.

Vehicle Signage 

5.2 The private hire vehicle shall not display any sign, which consists of or 
includes the word ‘Taxi’ or ‘Cab’ whether singular or plural, or ‘Hire’, or any 
word of a similar meaning or appearance to any of those words, whether 
alone or as part of another word. The only exceptions are:

5.2.1 The word ‘Hire’ displayed on a private hire vehicle is when the word 
is used in conjunction with the word ‘Private’ to form the term 
‘Private Hire’.

5.2.2 To meet the requirements of Condition 5.3 below.

5.3 A sign must be displayed in a prominent position on each front side door 
of the vehicle displaying either:

5.3.1 Borough Council logo with the wording ‘Pre-Booked Only, no 
advance booking, no insurance’, or

5.3.2 Borough Council logo and specifying the operator name, telephone 
number for bookings, with the wording ‘Pre-Booked Only’

5.4 The sign must be in either of the prescribed formats (see examples below) 
and must be affixed to the vehicle by an authorised sign maker.  
Removable signs e.g. magnetic will not be permitted.  The signage is only 
obtainable via the Borough Council’s licensing team and must be fitted 
within 14 days of the date the signage is ready and available with the 
signage company.  

29

King’s Lynn Cars

Pre-Booked Only
Tel: 01553 616200

69



Change of Use

5.5 Once a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle has passed first 
registration it will not be considered as a new application if a change of 
use between either category is requested, or if the licence has previously 
lapsed and is being re-instated.  This is conditional that the vehicle held a 
vehicle licence issued by this authority in the preceding 3 months, and that 
the previous licence holder makes the new application.   

Transfer of vehicle

5.6 If a proprietor of a private hire vehicle transfers his interest, in whole or 
in part, in the vehicle to any other person not specified in the vehicle 
licence he must notify the Borough Council within 14 days using the 
appropriate form.  The form must be accompanied by the fee and 
supporting documents.

3070



6.0 Special Event Vehicles

Application in Writing

6.1 Any person wishing to apply for a special event vehicle licence will be 
required to apply in writing to the Environmental Health Manager 
(Commercial) stating the type of vehicle, and age, which they intend to use 
and the reasons why they believe that they should be considered for this 
vehicle category.  Vehicles issued with a special event licence shall only 
be used for special occasions and executive business contracts.  Vehicles 
licensed within this category shall not be used for everyday private hire 
use, e.g. ‘school contracts’ but must work under the control of a private 
hire operator.

Sale of Alcohol

6.2 The licensee shall not facilitate the sale of alcohol unless there is in force 
an appropriate authorisation under the Licensing Act 2003 (either a 
premises licence or temporary event notice) permitting the sale of alcohol.

Types of Vehicle

6.3 Special event vehicles are a type of private hire vehicle and fall into the 
following 4 categories:

 Executive Vehicles;
 Novelty Vehicles
 Stretched Limousines;
 Historic Vehicles

Age Requirements 

6.4 Executive Vehicles & Novelty Vehicles presented for licensing for the first 
time should not normally be older than 3 years on the day the application 
is received.

6.5 Stretch Limousines presented for licensing for the first time should not 
normally be older than 7 years on the day the application is received.

6.6 Historic Vehicles presented for licensing for the first time must not have 
been constructed after 1st January 1973. Note: This is in accordance with 
DVLA taxation class for Historic Vehicles.

Licence Plate

6.7 The vehicle licence plate will be required to be fixed to the inside of the 
boot lid on the vehicle.

Communication Equipment

6.8 No vehicle shall be fitted with a two-way radio system.

3171



Dress Code

6.9 Drivers of special event vehicles will be required to observe a ‘smart 
casual’ dress code e.g. no jeans, no t-shirts, no sportswear etc.  A 
minimum acceptable standard for men includes shoes, trousers and a 
formal shirt (i.e. with collar).  For women a minimum acceptable 
standard includes shoes, trousers or skirt and a blouse or jumper.

Minimum Booking Fee

6.10 Vehicles shall not be offered for hire for less than a £30 minimum-
booking fee.   A receipt must be given to the customer in all cases, unless 
covered by a contract and receipts and contracts should be available to 
authorised officers of the Borough Council for inspection;

.
Stretched Limousines

6.11 A “stretched limousine”, is a saloon type vehicle that has undergone an 
increase in length by extending the wheelbase after manufacture. An 
“American stretched limousine” is a stretched limousine imported from the 
USA and typically will have been manufactured originally by Lincoln (Ford) 
or Cadillac.

6.12 The purpose of this Policy and subsequent conditions is to protect public 
safety. The conditions will apply in addition to the Authority’s standard 
conditions for private hire vehicles and take account of the fact that 
stretched limousines will:

 travel generally at slower speeds than normal taxis;
 not normally overtake other vehicles;
 be easily recognisable by the hirer;
 be heavier and considerably longer than standard cars;
 be adapted or converted by someone other than the original 

manufacturer.

6.13 For the purposes of calculating the seating capacity of a vehicle the 
minimum width of a passenger seat is 400mm (16 inches). In the case of 
an ‘L’ shaped seat, sufficient space must be made available in the corner 
to prevent the passenger on one side of the corner encroaching on the 
passenger on the other side.

6.14 In the case of a stretched limousine, or an American stretched limousine, 
where the vehicle has been constructed or adapted to seat up to 8 
passengers, originals of the following documentation will be required by 
the Borough Council before an initial application for a vehicle licence can 
be considered:

3272



 Completed importation documentation where applicable and individual 
vehicle approval (IVA) or Voluntary Individual Vehicle Aproval (VIVA) 
certificate. 

 Proof the ‘stretch’ was performed by the manufacturer or by a 
Coachbuilder approved by the vehicle manufacturer i.e. American 
Limousines must have been built by an approved coachbuilder under 
the QVM programme for Ford Vehicles or the CMC programme for 
Cadillac Vehicles. 

 DVLA Registration Document (V5).
 Valid Certificate of Insurance, with cover for hire and reward.
 Current MOT certificate issued by an approved Testing Station.
 Where applicable, an installation certificate from a Liquefied Petroleum 

Gas Association (LPGA) Approved UK Vehicle Conversion Company, 
in the case of vehicles converted to run on LPG. 

 Valid Road Vehicle Excise licence.

Replacement Parts

6.15 Any replacement parts fitted to stretch limousine vehicles must meet the 
approved standards of the stretched specifications i.e. tyres will not only 
have to meet the size specifications, but must also meet the weight 
specification.

Window Tints

6.16 Stretch limousines are exempt from Condition 3.59 regarding tinted 
windows fitted to the side and rear window glass of the vehicle. The driver 
and passenger front side window glass and the front windscreen (cockpit 
area) must comply with Condition 3.59.

.Private Hire Operator – Additional Requirement

6.17 Special event vehicles must be specifically requested by the customer 
and it is not for the operator to determine which class of vehicle should 
be assigned to the booking.  In addition to the private hire operator 
records required under paragraph 8, operators of special event 
vehicles are to maintain a record of the nature of the special event i.e. 
why the customer requested a special event vehicle.

3373



7.0 Combined Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver’s Licences

7.1 Before a person is licensed, or renews a licence, as a licensed driver the 
following requirements shall be met:

7.1.1 All applicants/Drivers must be in possession of a full driving licence 
issued by the DVLA or a licence from an EEA or EU state and that 
licence must have been in place, for at least, the preceding 12 
months.

7.1.2 Any applicant must be medically examined by a qualified medical 
practitioner at the practice where the applicant is registered and 
must be considered fit enough to meet at least the standards 
required for the grant of a Group II driving licence as recommended 
by the Driver Vehicle Licensing Agency. Medical certificates 
supplied upon first registration will be accepted if dated up to 6 
months before the date of initial application. 

7.1.3 An enquiry shall be made of the DVLA to establish the validity of 
any applicant’s UK driving licence and any motoring convictions 
recorded against him/her in order to confirm that the applicant is a 
fit and proper person to hold, or continue to hold, a licence. The 
applicant will be required to authorise the Borough Council to make 
such enquiries.

7.1.4 An applicant’s criminal record shall be obtained via the Disclosure 
and Barring Service at “enhanced” level in order to confirm that the 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. The applicant 
will be required to complete the necessary forms for the purpose. If 
a Disclosure and Barring Service check is not available, the 
applicant must provide a certificate of good citizenship or equivalent 
from every country where the applicant has been resident.

7.1.5 Any applicant must make a declaration (by means of a form or 
questionnaire provided for the purpose) as to any criminal or 
motoring convictions recorded or pending against him/her in order 
to confirm that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence.

7.2 The DVLA driving licence must cover the appropriate category for the 
vehicle being driven.

7.3 All holders of a Combined Driver’s licence shall be required to take and 
pass a medical examination at age 45, then every five years after the age 
of 45 and then annually from the age of 65 years.  A driver under the age 
of 65 with a controlled medical condition may also be required to under go 
a full medical annually or at any other time that may be prescribed by a 
medical practitioner.  An authorised officer of the Borough Council may, 
upon reasonable request ask for a driver to complete a medical at any 
time. 

3474



7.4 If a medical certificate is not produced when requested, the Borough 
Council may consider suspension/revocation of a Drivers licence. If there 
is a change in a Drivers medical fitness to drive a vehicle, they must notify 
the Licensing Team as soon as possible or no longer than 72 hours after 
the change in circumstances. 

7.5 In relation to the consideration of convictions and cautions recorded 
against persons the Borough Council has adopted the policy set out in 
Annex B (Guidelines relating to the relevance of convictions).

 
7.6 A Combined Driver’s Licence shall be valid for a maximum term of three 

years (unless a shorter period is appropriate).

7.7 If a Driver accrues 9 or more points in a 3 year period on his/her DVLA 
driving licence, they will be required to appear before a Panel of the 
Licensing & Appeals Board in order for their continued suitability to hold a 
driver’s licence to be assessed. 

7.8 Any driver who receives, during the currency of their licence, a conviction 
for drink driving may automatically have their licence suspended by an 
Authorised Officer and will be required to appear before a Panel of the 
Licensing & Appeals Board for consideration of revocation of their licence. 

7.9 The driver of a private hire vehicle while driving or in charge of such a 
vehicle shall not:

7.9.1 tout or solicit or cause or procure any other person to tout or 
solicit on a road or other public place any person to hire or to 
be carried for hire in any vehicle;

7.9.2 ply for hire by offering a vehicle for immediate hire while they 
or that vehicle are on a road or other public place;

7.9.3 accept an offer for the immediate hire of a vehicle while they or 
that vehicle are on a road or other public place except where 
the offer is first communicated to the driver in person by 
telephone or vehicle radio without him / her in any way 
procuring the offer.

7.9.4 In this condition "road" means any highway and any other road 
to which the public has access and includes bridges over which 
a road passes.

7.10 When hired to drive to a particular destination, a driver shall (subject to 
any directions given by the hirer) proceed to that destination by the 
shortest available route. 

Conduct of Driver

7.11 The driver shall at all times:

7.11.1 carry a reasonable quantity of luggage when requested by any 
person hiring or seeking to hire a vehicle, and afford all 

3575



reasonable assistance in loading and unloading passengers' 
luggage.

7.11.2 be clean and respectable in his/her dress and person and 
behave in a civil and orderly manner.

7.11.3 take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers 
conveyed in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by 
him/her.

7.11.4 not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or 
sound reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other 
than for the purpose of sending or receiving messages in 
connection with the operation of the vehicle.

7.11.5 not cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other 
previously mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he/she is 
driving to be a source of nuisance or annoyance to any 
person, whether inside or outside the vehicle.

7.11.6 when collecting passengers the driver will not beep the 
vehicle’s horn but shall make his / her arrival known in person.

Change of Address

7.12 The driver shall notify The Borough Council in writing of any change of 
his/her address during the period of the licence within seven days of the 
change taking place.

Change of Operator

7.13 The driver shall notify the Borough Council in writing of any change in the 
private hire operator he/she is working under the control of within 7 days of 
the change taking place.

Convictions, Cautions, Driving Offences & Charges

7.14 The driver shall notify the Borough Council in writing if he/she receives any 
summons, charge, conviction, caution, formal or informal notice, County 
Court Judgement or fixed penalty notice within seven days of receiving 
such.  The written notification should include the following details:

 Offence / alleged offence;
 Date, place & time of offence/alleged offence; 
 Whether acting as a hackney/private hire;
 If motoring offence:

 whether paying passengers carried;
 speed or alleged speed;
 speed limit for road;
 Punishment e.g. amount of fine, number of penalty points issued 

etc.
 whether speed awareness course undertaken

3676



7.15 Depending on the circumstances or the number of penalty points accrued 
on their DVLA driver’s licence, drivers may be referred to a Panel of the 
Licensing & Appeals Board.  In doing so, the Panel must have regard to all 
convictions, police cautions, charges, driving convictions, complaints of 
unacceptable conduct/behaviour, breach of licence conditions and other 
convictions obtained during the course of a Licence.

7.16 Drivers should be aware that if they fail to comply with this requirement it 
may prevent the Borough Council from renewing their driver’s licence 
under delegated authority. 

7.17 In the event of a disqualification from driving, a driver shall immediately 
inform the Borough Council and return their driver’s badge.

Badges

7.18 The driver shall at all times, whilst in charge of a licensed vehicle, wear 
their badge on their person where it is clearly visible.

7.19 A driver shall not damage or deface a driver’s badge nor allow any other 
person to do so.

Driving licence

7.20 A driver shall produce their DVLA driving licence for inspection by an 
authorised officer annually and at any point during the period of the licence 
(within 7 days of request).

Prompt Attendance

7.21 The driver of a vehicle shall, if he/she is aware that the vehicle has been 
hired to be in attendance at an appointed time and place or he/she has 
otherwise been instructed by the operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be 
in attendance at an appointed time and place (unless delayed or 
prevented by sufficient cause) punctually attend at that appointed time and 
place.

Passengers

7.22 The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a vehicle a greater 
number of persons than that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle.

7.23 The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or 
permit to be conveyed any other person in that vehicle.

7.24 The driver, who shall knowingly convey in a vehicle the dead body of any 
person, shall immediately thereafter notify the fact to the Licensing Team.

7.25 No driver without reasonable excuse shall refuse to carry or refuse 
assistance to any person with a disability or refuse to carry an assistance 
dog (without the appropriate exemption certificate). 

7.26 No extra fee may be charged for carrying an assistance dog or wheelchair.

Lost Property / Misplaced Articles

3777



7.27 The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a vehicle 
or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any 
property which may have been accidentally left there.

7.28 If any property accidentally left in a vehicle by any person who may have 
been conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, it shall be 
taken as soon as possible and in any event within twenty-four hours (if not 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner) to a convenient police station and left 
in the custody of the officer in charge after obtaining a receipt for it.

Animals

7.29 The driver shall not convey in a vehicle any animal belonging to or in the 
custody of himself or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle.

7.30 The driver shall ensure that any animal belonging to or in the custody of 
any passenger is conveyed in the rear of the vehicle except that an 
assistance dog accompanying a disabled person may sit in the front of the 
vehicle provided that the animal is properly trained to sit in the foot well of 
the vehicle with the disabled passenger.

Breakdowns

7.31 In the event of a breakdown during a hiring, the driver shall ensure that 
alternative arrangements are made for passengers to continue their 
journey.  

Fare to be demanded

7.32 The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a vehicle a fare in excess of 
any previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator.

Written Receipts

7.33 The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a vehicle provide him with a 
written receipt for the fare paid. 

Passenger Transport Badge Holders

7.34 If a licensed driver holds a badge with a County Council to carry 
passengers on school or other contracts, and that badge is suspended or 
revoked by the County Council, the driver shall notify the Council, in 
writing, within 72 hours. 

Smoking and Electronic Cigarettes

7.35 The driver must not smoke in a licensed vehicle at any time. 

7.36 The use of Electronic Cigarettes (e-cigs), Personal Vaporizers (PV) and 
Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS) is prohibited only whilst 
carrying fare paying passengers. 

3878



Failure to provide Information

7.37 It is the driver’s responsibility to provide the following information 
throughout the term of their licence:

7.37.1 DBS check every 3 years. 
7.37.2 Annual DVLA check.
7.37.3 Medical Certificate in accordance with condition 2.10.
7.37.4 Annual disclosure of convictions

Faillure to provide this information throughout the term of the licence may result 
in the suspension of the driver’s license by officers under delegated authority.

Penalties

7.38 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides that 
any person who acts in contravention of the provisions of Part II of the Act 
shall be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine.  In 
addition to such action, whether or not resulting in criminal proceedings 
being taken, may lead to the suspension or revocation of an existing 
licence or refusal to renew such a licence.

3979



8.0 Private Hire Operators

8.1 In these Conditions "The Borough Council" means The Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn & West Norfolk and "Authorised Officer" means any officer of 
the Borough Council authorised in writing for the purposes of these 
conditions.  An “operator” means the holder of a private hire operator 
licence issued by the Borough Council.

8.2 A Private Hire Operators Licence shall be valid for a maximum period of 
five years (unless a shorter period is appropriate).  The Borough Council 
will only grant operators licences to operators operating from an address 
within the area of the Borough Council’s District.

8.3 The applicant for the grant of a new licence will need to obtain a criminal 
records disclosure to enhanced level as an aid to establishing if an 
applicant is a suitable person to hold an operator’s licence.  If a Combined 
Drivers Licence is held an additional Criminal check will not be necessary 
unless the DBS Disclosure is out of date (i.e. older than 3 years).

8.4 The applicant must make a declaration (by means of a form or 
questionnaire provided for the purpose) as to any criminal or motoring 
convictions recorded or pending against him/her in order to confirm that 
the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

8.5 An Operator must not include in his trading title any reference to “taxi” or 
“cab” unless he/she is also the proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle.

8.6 An Operator must ensure that all vehicles and drivers working for them are 
licensed by The Borough Council.

8.7 When a new driver begins to work under the control of an operator, and 
when an existing driver leaves, the operator must inform the Borough 
Council in writing of that change within 7 days.

8.8 An Operator must keep records of bookings and produce these to an 
authorised officer or police officer on request.  The content of these will be 
as prescribed by the Borough Council.

8.9 The Operators licence must be produced on request of an authorised 
officer or police officer on request.

8.10 An operator must, if possible, accept a booking for a Private Hire vehicle if 
the booking is requested by or on behalf of a disabled person, or a person 
who wishes a disabled person to accompany him/her.

8.11 An operator cannot make an additional charge for the carriage of an 
assistance dog.

  
8.12 An Operator shall record details of every private hire booking made by him 

/ her. The following information shall be recorded in an easily retrievable 
method (e.g. computer database or page numbered log) before the 
commencement of each journey, and shall include the following:

4080



 the date and time of each booking;
 how the booking was received, i.e. telephone or personal call;
 the time of pick-up;
 where journey was from and to;
 the name, address and contact telephone number of the hirer;
 the private hire vehicle licence plate number of the vehicle allocated 

the booking;
 the name of the driver allocated the booking.

8.13 In addition to the requirement of Condition 8.12 above, an operator of a 
special event vehicle must also record the nature of the special event i.e. 
why was a special event vehicle booked 

8.14 The records shall be kept for a period of three years, or such longer period 
as is required by an Authorised Officer of the Borough Council. 

8.15 The records shall be produced, on request, to any Police Officer or 
Authorised Officer of the Borough Council.

8.16 An Operator shall maintain at his premises details of all vehicles operated 
by him, which shall include the following:

 the Private Hire licence plate number;
 the vehicle registration number;
 the name and address of the proprietor of the vehicle;
 the name(s) and address(es) of the driver(s) of the vehicles(s);
 the badge number(s) of the driver(s).

The above records shall be produced on request to any Authorised Officer 
of the Borough Council or Police Officer.

8.17 No operator shall invite or accept a private hire vehicle booking or control 
or arrange a journey to be undertaken by a private hire vehicle without first 
making available the charge for the hire of the vehicle to the person 
making the booking. The charge can be notified in writing or verbally.

8.18 The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to 
members of the public at all reasonable times. This includes the following:

8.18.1 Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to attend 
at an appointed time and place, the vehicle shall, unless 
delayed or prevented by sufficient cause, attend punctually at 
the appointed time and place.

8.18.2 Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises 
which the operator provides to which the public have access, 
whether for the purpose of booking or waiting.

8.18.3 Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has 
adequate seating facilities.

8.18.4 Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment 
provided are maintained in a sound condition and that any 
defects are repaired promptly.

4181



8.19 An Operator shall undertake to ensure that all drivers and vehicles owned, 
controlled or operated by them shall be licensed and comply with all the 
conditions of their driver's licence and / or Private Hire Vehicle licence.

8.20 The Equality Act 2010 makes it an offence for a private hire operator to fail 
or refuse to take a booking for a private hire vehicle;

 if the booking is requested by or on behalf of a disabled person, or a 
person who wishes a disabled person to accompany him; and

 the reason for the failure or refusal is that the disabled person will be 
accompanied by his assistance dog.

This is subject to medical exemption certificates and it is also an offence 
for the operator to make any additional charge as a result of the need to 
carry an assistance dog.

Complaints

8.21 An Operator shall maintain a log detailing any complaints received from 
customers.  This shall be available for inspection by any authorised officer 
or police office upon request. The log must provide the complainants 
name/address/complaint details & any action taken against driver/vehicle 
proprietor.

Change of Address

8.22 The operator shall notify the Borough Council in writing of any change of 
his address (including any address from which he operates or otherwise 
conducts his business as an operator) during the period of the licence 
within seven days of such change taking place.

Convictions

8.23 The operator shall notify the Borough Council in writing if he/she receives 
any summons, charge, conviction, caution, formal notice or fixed penalty 
notice within seven days of receiving such.  The written notification should 
include the following details:

 Offence /alleged offence;
 Date, place & time offence/alleged offence;
 Punishment e.g. fine, penalty points etc.

8.25 Depending on the circumstances or the number of penalty points accrued 
on their DVLA driver’s licence (if held), operators may be referred to a 
Panel of the Licensing & Appeals Board.  In doing so, the Panel must have 
regard to all convictions, police cautions, charges, driving convictions, 
complaints of unacceptable conduct/behaviour, breach of licence 
conditions and other convictions obtained during the course of a Licence.

8.26 Operators should be aware that if they fail to comply with condition 8.25 
above, it may prevent the Borough Council from renewing their licence 
under delegated authority. 

8.27 The Operator shall provide a suitable number of parking spaces for 
vehicles awaiting allocation for the conveyance of passengers.  These 
parking spaces must be notified to the Licensing Team at the time of any 

4282



application or at any time there is a change in these arrangements.  The 
Operator shall ensure that no vehicle, being operated by him, shall at any 
time park in a position where parking restrictions are in place, at that time, 
any breach of this condition will be contrary to Section 55 (3) of the Act.

8.28 Operators must ensure that non-licensed staff, i.e. controllers, cleaners etc 
behave in a civilised and appropriate manner when involved in the 
operation of the business. This includes discussion on social media sites. 

Penalties

8.29 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 provides that 
any person who acts in contravention of the provisions of Part II of the Act 
shall be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not 
exceeding level 3 on the standard scale. In addition such action, whether 
or not resulting in criminal proceedings being taken, may lead to the 
suspension or revocation of an existing licence or refusal to renew such a 
licence.

4383



9.0 Hackney Carriage Byelaws

Byelaws made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847 and 
Section 171 of the Public Health Act, 1875 by the Borough Council of 
King’s Lynn & West Norfolk with respect to Hackney Carriages.

Interpretation

9.1 Throughout these byelaws "the Borough Council" means the Borough 
Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk and "the district" means the 
Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk.

Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney 
carriage, corresponding with the number of its licence, shall be displayed

9.2 The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the 
licence granted to him in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or 
marked on the outside and inside respectively of the carriage, or on 
plates affixed thereto.

9.3 A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:-

 not willfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be 
concealed from public view while the carriage is standing or plying for 
hire;

 not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such 
painting, marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material 
particular is illegible.

Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or 
provided

9.4 The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:-

 provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may 
communicate with the driver;

 cause the roof or covering to be kept watertight;
 provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing 

not less than one window on each side;
 cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered;
 cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat, or other 

suitable covering;
 cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean 

condition, well maintained and in every way fit for public service;
 provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed 

as to carry luggage;
 provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a 

position as to be readily available for use;
 provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such 

carriage and a separate means of ingress and egress for the driver.
 cause the exterior of the carriage to be maintained in a clean 

condition.

9.5 The proprietor of a hackney carriage, except in the case of London Style 
taxis, shall cause the same to be provided with a sign safely affixed on 
the roof of the said hackney carriage and so constructed, attached and 
maintained as to comply with the following requirements, that is to say:

44 84



 the said sign shall clearly display to the front of the hackney carriage 
the word ‘TAXI’ and shall be kept illuminated during the hours of 
darkness; these being the hours between half-an-hour after sunset 
and half-an-hour before sunrise,. 

9.6 The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the same to be provided 
with a taximeter so constructed, attached, and maintained as to comply 
with the following requirements, that is to say:

 the taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the turning 
of which will bring the machinery of the taximeter into action and 
cause the word "HIRED" to appear on the face of the taximeter;

 such key, flag, or other device shall be capable of being locked in 
such a position that the machinery of the taximeter is not in action 
and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter;

 when the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be 
recorded on the face of the taximeter in clearly legible figures a fare 
not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or driver is entitled 
to demand and take for the hire of the carriage by distance in 
pursuance of the byelaw in that behalf;

 the word "FARE" shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain 
letters so as clearly to apply to the fare recorded thereon;

 the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face 
thereof are at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in 
the carriage, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall be 
capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring;

 the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the 
carriage with seals or other appliances that it shall not be practicable 
for any person to tamper with them except by breaking damaging or 
permanently displaying the seals or other appliances.

Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of 
hackney carriages plying within the district in their several employments, 
and determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what badges

9.7 The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall:-

 when standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device 
fitted in pursuance of the byelaw in that behalf locked in the position 
in which no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter;

 before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance 
and time bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving 
the said key, flag or other device so that the word "HIRED" is legible 
on the face of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the taximeter 
in action until the termination of the hiring;

 cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated 
throughout any part of a hiring which is during the hours of darkness 
as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act, 1972 and also at 
any other time at the request of the hirer.

9.8 A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or 
permit any person to tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is 
provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto.

9.9 Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, at all times, when 
standing, plying, or driving for hire, conduct himself in an orderly manner, 
and with civility and propriety towards every person seeking to hire, or 
hiring, or being conveyed in such a carriage shall comply with every 

4585



reasonable requirement of any person hiring or being conveyed in such 
carriage. 

9.10 The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street 
and not actually hired:

 proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands fixed by the 
byelaw in that behalf;

 if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of 
carriages authorised to occupy it, proceed to another stand;

 on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of 
carriages authorised to occupy it, station the carriage immediately 
behind the carriage or carriages on the stand and so as to face in the 
same direction;

 from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is 
driven off or moved forward cause his carriage to be moved forward 
so as to fill the place previously occupied by the carriage driven off or 
moved forward.

9.11 A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for 
hire shall not, by calling out or otherwise, importune any person to hire 
such carriage and shall not make use of the services of any other person 
for the purpose.

9.12 The driver of a hackney carriage shall take all reasonable precautions to 
ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the 
vehicle.

9.13 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has 
been hired to be in attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and 
place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, 
punctually attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place.

9.14 The driver of a hackney carriage when hired to drive to any particular 
destination shall, subject to any directions given by the hirer, proceed to 
that destination by the shortest available route.

9.15 A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to 
be conveyed in such carriage, any greater number of persons than the 
number of persons specified on the licence for such carriage issued by 
the Borough Council.

9.16 If a badge has been provided by the Borough Council and delivered to 
the driver of a hackney carriage, he shall when standing, plying or driving 
for hire wear that badge in such position and manner as to be plainly and 
distinctly visible.

9.17 The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage 
shall, when requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the 
carriage:

 convey a reasonable quantity of luggage;
 afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading;
 afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of 

any house, station or place at which he may take up or set down such 
person.

46 86



9.18 Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, who shall knowingly 
convey in the carriage the dead body of any person shall, immediately 
notify the fact to the Executive Director, Environmental Health & Housing.

Provisions fixing the rate of fare to be paid for hackney carriages within 
the district and securing the due publication of fares

9.19 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand 
and take for the hire of the carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the 
Borough Council, the rate or fare being calculated by distance unless the 
hirer expresses at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage 
by time. 

9.20 Provided always that where a hackney carriage shall be hired by 
distance the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand 
and take a fare greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter, 
save for any extra charges authorized by the Borough Council which it 
may not be possible to record on the face of the taximeter.

9.21 the proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares 
fixed by the Borough Council resolution in that behalf to be exhibited 
inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures.

9.22 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of 
fares in accordance with this byelaw shall not willfully or negligently 
cause or suffer the letters or figures in the statement to be concealed or 
rendered illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being used 
for hire. 

Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property 
accidentally left in hackney carriages and fixing the charges to be made in 
respect thereof

9.23 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the 
termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully 
search the carriage for any property which may have been accidentally 
left therein. 

9.24 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property 
accidentally left therein by any person who may have been conveyed in 
the carriage be found by or handed to him:

 carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not 
sooner claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to the office of the 
Borough Council and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of 
the office on his giving a receipt for it.

 be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be 
re-delivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound for its 
estimated value (or the fare for the distance from the place of finding 
to the office of the Borough Council whichever be the greater) but not 
more than five pounds.

Penalties

9.25 Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be 
liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding one hundred 
pounds and in the case of a continuing offence to a further fine not 
exceeding five pounds for each day during which the offence continues 
after conviction.

4787



Repeal of Byelaws

9.26 The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by the 
Borough Council of King’s Lynn & West Norfolk on the 7th day of March 
1983 and confirmed by the Secretary of State on the 16th day of 
September 1983, are hereby repealed. Given under the common seal of 
the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council Mayor (T.C.R Legge) 
& on Borough Secretary (J.H Carr) the 21st day of May 1985. The 
foregoing byelaw was confirmed by the Secretary of State and came into 
force on the 1st day of September 1985, signed by P.E Pickering, an 
assistant secretary in the department of transport on behalf of the 
secretary of state for transport, 12th August 1985.

48 88



10.0 Penalty Points System

10.1 Authorised Officers of the Borough Council can impose penalty points on 
drivers of private hire vehicles and hackney carriages, proprietors of 
vehicles and operators of private hire vehicles as shown below. This 
system is designed for the interest of the public as an aid to ensure 
continued public safety and to give the individual concerned a chance to 
rectify any relatively minor breaches of licence conditions without the 
need to resort to suspension, revocation or prosecution.

10.2 If an individual concerned accrues a total of 12 points in any 12 month 
period then he/she will automatically be referred to a Panel of the 
Licensing & Appeals Board with a request that the Panel review the 
individual’s continued suitability to hold a licence.

10.3 The following list, whilst not exhaustive, details the circumstances in 
which a licence holder will be directly referred to a Panel of the Licensing 
& Appeals Board:

 Providing false or misleading information on licence application form, 
or failing to provide relevant information including any convictions 
imposed;

 Authorised officer refused access to operator/driver records;
 Carrying excess passengers;
 Abusive or obstructive behaviour (verbal or physical) to authorised 

officers of the Borough Council or police officers;
 Using a vehicle for which the licence has been suspended or 

revoked;
 Carrying an offensive weapon in the vehicle;
 Driver not holding a current DVLA licence;
 Nine or more penalty points on a DVLA driving licence;
 Convictions including motoring convictions for:

o Drinking/drugs and driving;
o Causing death by careless driving;
o Reckless/dangerous driving;
o Offences resulting in disqualification;
o Disqualified from holding a licence until driving test passed. 

10.4 The following list, whilst not exhaustive, details the number of penalty 
points that will be awarded for the infringements shown:

BC Code Infringement Penalty 
Points

PP1 Failing to notify the Licensing team, in writing of charges, 
summons, penalty points etc 4

PP2 Displaying any feature on a private hire vehicle which would 
suggest it is a taxi 4

PP3 Failure to attend the Council Offices when directed by an 
authorised officer. 6

4989



BC Code Infringement Penalty 
Points

PP4 Failure to carry an assistance dog without requisite exemption 6

PP5 Failure to notify the Licensing Office of any change in medical 
fitness to drive. 4

PP6 Failure to notify transfer of vehicle within prescribed time limit 4

PP7 Failure to produce a valid insurance certificate/cover note within 7 
days of request. 6

PP8 Failure to produce the 6 monthly MOT/Compliance check 4

PP9
Failure to report to the authority the transfer of a private hire 
vehicle licence or a hackney carriage proprietors licence within 
14 days of transfer.

4

PP10 Failure to return vehicle licence plate within 7 days after due 
notice following expiry, revocation or suspension of such licence 4

PP11 Leaving a vehicle unattended on the rank. 4

PP12 Licensed vehicle not carrying a spare wheel, space saver or tyre 
weld that is capable of being used. 4

PP13 Private hire drivers touting 6

PP14 Private Hire Operator failing to maintain their records in the 
correct format. 6

PP15 Failing to notify Licensing Team of a change in private hire 
operator. 4

PP16 Wheelchair accessible  hackney carriage fails to carry ramps for 
loading disabled persons wheelchair 6

PP17 Conviction for minor traffic offences e.g. obstruction, waiting in a 
restricted street, speeding etc. 3

PP18 Driver smoking in the vehicle 3

PP19 Failing to deal with lost property in the correct manner. 3

PP20 Failing to display fare card (hackney carriage) 3

PP21 Failing to have a Private Hire Driver or Hackney Carriage Driver 
badge in his possession whilst driving a licensed vehicle. 3

PP22 Failing to notify the Licensing Office in writing, of being involved 
in an accident within 72 hours of the accident occurring. 3

PP23 Failing to notify the Licensing team, in writing, of a change of 
address within 7 days. 3

PP24 Failure to display any Plates, Signs or Notices required by the 
Borough Council 3

PP25 Failure to display official ‘no smoking’ sign in vehicle 3

PP26 Licensed vehicle displaying unauthorised makings (inside or out) 3

PP27 Not having an appropriate Fire Extinguisher and/or first aid kit in 
the vehicle. 3

PP28 Parking/stopping contrary to authorised road markings 3

PP29 Parking/stopping with one or more wheels on the pavement 3

50 90



BC Code Infringement Penalty 
Points

PP30 Sounding the vehicle horn to announce arrival or tout for 
business 3

PP31 Unreasonable prolongation of journeys or any misconduct 
regarding the charging of fares 3

PP32 Using a mobile phone, radio hand set, eating or drinking whilst 
the vehicle is in motion 3

PP33 Failure to conform with the Road Traffic Act 3

PP34 Defective vehicle, i.e. bald tyre, headlight not working 4

PP35 Failure to comply with legislation pertaining to hackney carriage 
and private hire licensing. 3-6

5191



11.0 Summary of Offences

TOWN POLICE CLAUSES ACT 1847
Section Offence

40 Giving false information on application for hackney carriage 
proprietor’s licence

44 Failure to notify change of address of hackney carriage proprietor
45 Plying for hire without a hackney carriage proprietor’s licence

47 Driving a hackney carriage without a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence

47 Lending or parting with a hackney carriage driver’s licence
47 Hackney carriage proprietor employing unlicensed driver

48 Failure by hackney carriage proprietor to hold hackney carriage 
driver’s licence

48 Failure by hackney carriage proprietor to produce hackney 
carriage driver’s licence

52 Failure to display hackney carriage plate
53 Refusal to take a fare
54 Charging more than the agreed fare
55 Obtaining more than the legal fare
56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare
57 Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid
58 Charging more than the legal fare
59 Carrying other person than the hirer without consent
60 Driving a hackney carriage without proprietor’s consent

60 Person allowing another to drive a hackney carriage without 
proprietor’s consent

61 Drunken driving of hackney carriage

61 Wanton or furious driving or wilful misconduct leading to injury or 
danger

62 Driver leaving hackney carriage unattended
64 Hackney carriage driver obstructing other hackney carriages

52 92



12.0 HACKNEY CARRIAGE PROVISIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976
Section Offence

49 Failure to notify transfer of hackney carriage proprietor’s licence
50(1) Failure to present hackney carriage for inspection as required

50(2) Failure to inform Local Authority where hackney carriage is stored if 
requested

50(3) Failure to report an accident to Local Authority

50(4) Failure to produce hackney carriage proprietor’s licence and 
insurance certificate

53(3) Failure to produce hackney carriage driver’s licence

57 Making false statement or withholding information to obtain hackney 
carriage driver’s licence

58(2) Failure to return plate after notice given after expiry, revocation or 
suspension of hackney carriage proprietor’s licence

61(2) Failure to surrender driver’s licence after suspension, revocation or 
refusal to renew

64 Permitting any vehicle other than hackney carriage to wait on a 
hackney carriage stand

66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending outside the 
district, without prior agreement

67 Charging more than the meter fare when hackney carriage used as 
private hire vehicle

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey
71 Interfering with a taximeter

73(1)(a) Obstruction of authorised officer or constable
73(1)(b) Failure to comply with requirement of authorised officer or constable

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to authorised officer or 
constable

5393



13.0 PRIVATE HIRE PROVISIONS 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976
Section Offence
46(1)(b) Driving a private hire vehicle without a private hire driver’s licence
46(1)(c) Proprietor of a private hire vehicle using an unlicensed driver

46(1)(d) Operating a private hire vehicle without a private hire operator’s 
licence

46(1)(e) Operating a vehicle as a private hire vehicle when the vehicle is not 
licensed as a private hire vehicle

46(1)(e) Operating a private hire vehicle when the driver is not licensed as a 
private hire driver

48(6) Failure to display private hire vehicle plate
49 Failure to notify transfer of private hire vehicle licence

50(1) Failure to present private hire vehicle for inspection as required

50(2) Failure to inform local authority where private hire vehicle is stored if 
requested

50(3) Failure to report an accident to local authority

50(4) Failure to produce private hire vehicle licence and insurance 
certificate

53(3) Failure to produce private hire driver’s licence
54(2) Failure to wear private hire driver’s badge
56(2) Failure by private hire operator to keep records of bookings

56(3) Failure by private hire operator to keep records of private hire 
vehicles operated by him

56(4) Failure to produce private hire operator’s licence on request

57 Making false statement or withholding information to obtain private 
hire driver’s or operator’s licence

58(2) Failure to return plate after notice given after expiry, revocation or 
suspension of private hire vehicle licence

61(2) Failure to surrender driver’s licence after suspension, revocation or 
refusal to renew

67 Charging more than the meter fare when hackney carriage used as 
private hire vehicle

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey
71 Interfering with a taximeter

73(1)(a) Obstruction of authorised officer or constable
73(1)(b) Failure to comply with requirement of authorised officer or constable

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to authorised officer or 
constable

Annex A to
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Procedures & Conditions

Dated 30th June 2011

54

                                                                                                  
Accident & Vehicle Damage Notification Form

For drivers or vehicle owners who’s vehicle has been damaged or involved in an accident

Environment – Licensing                 
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, 
Norfolk, PE30 1EX                                     Tel: 
(01553) 616200; Fax (01553) 691663

94



Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Section 50 (3) Notification

1. PERSON DRIVING THE VEHICLE
Christian or Forenames: Surname:

Address:

(Inc postcode)

Telephone No: Home: Mobile:

Date of Birth: Sex (M/F):

2. THE VEHICLE
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire?
Licence Plate Number:
Registration Number:
Operator (if Private Hire):

3. THE ACCIDENT
What date did the accident take place on?
At what time?
Was the accident caused by you? 
Is the vehicle considered unroadworthy and not being 
driven at this present time?

*Please provide a description of how the accident happened:
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………

*You will be asked to draw a diagram of the accident on the next page.

4. SCENE OF THE ACCIDENT

55

Please draw a diagram of the scene of the accident. Indicate where your vehicle was, where 
the other vehicle or object was. Show traffic lights or other road signs and any other vehicles or 
objects that you remember. 

95



5. VEHICLE DAMAGE / HUMAN INJURY / DAMAGE TO PROPERTY

Please give a full description of the damage to the vehicle and any injury incurred to the driver or 
other person/s:
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………

6. WHO HAVE YOU INFORMED?

The Police? If so, give reference number

Insurance Company? If so, give claim number

Operator? If so, who did you inform?

In making this notification I confirm the information given is true to the best of my knowledge and I 
understand it is a criminal offence to provide false information. I also provide consent for an 
authorised officer of the Borough Council to contact any third party, including my insurance 
company regarding this accident

Signed……………………………………………………………       Date………………………..............

Annex B to
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Procedures & Conditions

Dated 30th June 2011

56

                                                                                                  
Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Convictions

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing

96



1. Introduction

1.1 The purpose of these guidelines is to provide guidance on the criteria taken into 
account by the Council when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing 
licence holder is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private hire 
driver or operator licence.

1.2 The overriding aim of the licensing authority is to protect the safety of the public.

The licensing authority is concerned to ensure:

 That a person is a fit and proper and safe and suitable person.
 That the person does not pose a threat to the public.
 That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons.
 The safeguarding of children, vulnerable and young persons.

1.3 This document provides guidance to any person with an interest in taxi and private 
hire licensing. In particular, but not exclusively:

 Applicants for Drivers’ licences.
 Existing Licensed Drivers whose licences are being reviewed.
 Applicants for Private Hire Operator licenses. 
 Licensing Officers.
 Members of the Licensing Panel 
 Magistrates hearing appeals against Local Authority decisions.

1.4 Where Licensing Officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will utilise 
these guidelines when making a decision to grant a licence. In all other cases 
applications for licences will be referred to the Licensing Panel. Whilst Officers and 
the Panel will have regard to the guidelines contained in the policy, each case will 
be considered on its individual merits and, where the circumstances demand, 
the Panel/Officer may depart from the guidelines.

2. General guidelines

2.1 There may be occasions where it is appropriate to depart from the guidelines, for 
example where the offence is a one-off occasion or there are mitigating circumstances or 

57

Environment – Licensing 
King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, 
Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Tel: (01553) 616200; Fax (01553) 691663

97



alternatively where there are many or continuous offences which may show a pattern of 
offending and unfitness.

2.2  A person with a conviction for a serious offence need not be automatically 
barred from obtaining a licence, but would normally be expected to:

(a) Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period; and

(b) Show adequate evidence that he or she is a fit and proper person to hold
a licence (the onus is on the applicant to produce such evidence). Simply
remaining free of conviction may not generally be regarded as adequate
evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

Where an applicant has been convicted of a criminal offence, the licensing authority 
cannot review the merits of the conviction [Nottingham City Council v. Mohammed 
Farooq (1998)].

3. Appeals

3.1 Any applicant refused a driver’s licence on the grounds that the licensing authority is 
not satisfied he/she is a fit and proper person to hold such a licence has a right to appeal 
to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receipt of the notice of refusal [Local 
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976, s 77 (1)].

4. Powers

4.1 Section 61 and Section 62 of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 
1976 allow the licensing authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a licence if the 
applicant/licence holder has been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, 
indecency, violence; failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 
1847; failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; or any other reasonable cause.

4.2 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, 
allows the licensing authority to take into account all convictions recorded against an 
applicant or the holder of a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage driver’s licence, 
whether spent or not. Therefore the licensing authority will have regard to all relevant 
convictions, particularly where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern of 
repeat offending.

4.3 In this policy the term “disqualification” refers to the period served. In order to take 
account of the fact that a court may reduce the period of disqualification from driving, an 
applicant must provide evidence in advance to prove that the court agreed a reduction in 
the period of disqualification.

4.4 It should be noted that “any reasonable cause” includes conduct falling short of a
criminal conviction(s).

5. Consideration of disclosed criminal history

58 98



5.1 Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59, Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, the licensing authority is required to ensure that an applicant for the 
grant or renewal of a hackney carriage and/or a private hire vehicle drivers’ licence 
and/or private hire vehicle operator’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold such a 
licence. However, if an applicant has any convictions, warnings, cautions or charges 
awaiting trial, the licensing authority will look into:

 How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for.
 How serious the offence(s) were.
 When the offence(s) were committed.
 The date of conviction.
 Circumstances of the individual concerned.
 Sentence imposed by the court.
 The applicant’s age at the time of conviction.
 Whether they form part of a pattern of offending.
  Any other character check considered reasonable (e.g. personal references).
 Any other factors that might be relevant.

5.2 Existing holders of driver licences are required to notify the licensing authority in
writing within seven days of receiving a driving licence endorsement, fixed penalty notice 
or criminal conviction (including cautions).

5.3 Applicants can discuss further what effect a caution/conviction may have on any
application by contacting the Licensing Team in confidence for advice.

5.4 The licensing authority is also entitled to use other records and information that may 
be available to it in determining applications or an entitlement to continue holding a 
licence. This may include information held by the licensing authority or other licensing 
authorities, and information disclosed by the police or other agencies.

5.5 It is an offence for any person knowingly or recklessly to make a false declaration or 
to omit any material particular in giving information required by the application for a 
licence. Where an applicant has made a false statement or a false declaration on their 
application for the grant or renewal of a licence, the licence will normally be refused.

5.6 It should be noted that the determination of whether an applicant is “fit and proper” or 
safe and suitable includes consideration of conduct falling short of a criminal conviction.

6. Offences involving violence, disorder and damage to property

6.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A firm line is to be taken 
with those who have convictions for offences involving violence, disorder or criminal 
damage. An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence that involved the loss of life.

6.2 Any one with a conviction for an offence involving violence, disorder or damage
to property will normally be expected to remain free of such convictions for a period of at 
least 3 years. However, given the range of the offences, consideration must be given to 
the nature of the conviction. A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has 
more than one conviction in the last 10 years for an offence involving violence or 
disorder.

5999



6.3 In the most serious cases, an application will be refused unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. A licence will not normally be granted where the applicant has a 
conviction for an offence such as:
 Murder.
 Manslaughter.
 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving.
 Terrorism offences.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

6.4 An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an
offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below and the conviction
is less than 10 years prior to the date on which the application is determined by
the authority:

 Arson.
 Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm.
 Actual bodily harm.
 Grievous bodily harm with intent.
 Robbery.
 Possession of firearm.
 Riot.
 Violent disorder.
 Any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any
offences which replace the above.

6.5 An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an
offence or similar offence(s) which replace the offences below and the conviction
is less than 5 years prior to the date on which the application is determined by
the authority:

 Common assault.
 Assault occasioning actual bodily harm.
 Affray.
 Aggravated criminal damage.
 Any racially aggravated offence.
 Resisting arrest.
 Assault police.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences     
which replace the above.

6.6 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has a conviction for an
offence or similar offences(s) which replace the offences below and the conviction is less 
than 3 years prior to the date on which the application is determined by the authority:

 S.5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress).
 S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence.)
 S.4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress).

60100



 Obstruction.
 Criminal damage.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

6.7 A person bound over to keep the peace or be of good behaviour will not normally be 
granted a licence within the period of the recognisance e.g. where a person is bound 
over for 6 months, they will not normally be licensed within that 6 month period.

6.8 In the event of a licence being granted, a strict warning both verbally and in writing 
should be administered.

7. Possession of a weapon

7.1 A conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon related offence will
raise serious concerns as to the fitness of the applicant to carry the public.

7.2 Depending on the circumstances of the offence, an applicant should be free of
conviction for 3 years (or at least 3 years must have passed since the completion of the 
sentence, whichever is longer), before a licence is granted.

8. Sex and indecency offences

8.1 As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, 
applicants with convictions for sexual offences must be closely scrutinised. Those with 
convictions for the more serious sexual offences will normally be refused. For other 
offences, applicants will be expected to show a substantial period (normally at least 15 
years) free of conviction for such offences before a licence will be granted.

8.2 Unless there are exceptional circumstances, an application will normally be refused 
where the applicant has a conviction for an offence such as:

 Rape.
 Assault by penetration.
 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) which replace 
the above.

8.3 An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an offence 
listed below and the applicant has not been free of such conviction for at least 15 years.

 Sexual assault.
 Indecent assault.
 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc.
 Exploitation of prostitution.
 Trafficking for sexual exploitation.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

61101



8.4 An application will normally be refused if the applicant has a conviction for an
offence listed below and the applicant has not been free of such conviction for at least 5 
years.

 Indecent exposure.
 Soliciting (kerb crawling).
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) offences which 
replace the above.

8.5 In addition to the above the licensing authority will not normally grant a licence to
any applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register.

8.6 A licence will not normally be granted if an applicant has more than one conviction for 
a sex or indecency offence.

9. Dishonesty

9.1 A licensed PHV or taxi driver is expected to be a trustworthy person. They deal with 
cash transactions and valuable property may be left in their vehicles. The widespread 
practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of the trust that business 
people place in licensed drivers. Moreover, it is comparatively easy for a dishonest driver 
to defraud the public by demanding more than the legal or agreed fare, etc. Overseas 
visitors can be confused by our currency and may be vulnerable to an unscrupulous 
driver. For all these reasons, a serious view is taken of any conviction involving 
dishonesty.

9.2 In general, a minimum period of 3 years free of conviction Offences involving 
dishonesty include:

 Theft.
 Burglary.
 Fraud.
 Benefit fraud.
 Handling or receiving stolen goods.
 Forgery.
 Conspiracy to defraud.
 Obtaining money or property by deception.
 Other deception.
 Taking a vehicle without consent.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

10. Drugs

10.1 A serious view is taken of any drug related offence. The nature and quantity of 
the drugs, whether for personal use or supply are issues which should be considered.

10.2 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction 
for an offence related to the supply of drugs and has not been free of such conviction 
for 10 years.

62102



10.3 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has more than one
conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and has not been free of 
conviction for 5 years.

10.4 An application from an applicant who has an isolated conviction for an offence 
related to the possession of drugs within the last 3-5 years may be granted a licence, but 
consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the drugs.

10.5 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency, a 
specialist medical examination (in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) 
may be required before the licence is granted. If the applicant was an addict then they 
would normally be required to show evidence of 5 years free from drug taking after 
detoxification treatment.

11.  Minor and Major Traffic Offences

Minor

11.1 Convictions for minor traffic offences e.g. obstruction, waiting in a restricted 
street, speeding etc. may prevent a person from being granted a hackney carriage or 
private hire drivers licence if they have received more than 2 motoring convictions within 
the last 2 years.

11.2 The accumulation of 9 or more penalty points will cast grave doubts on the 
suitability of the applicant and could lead to the refusal of the application.

Major

11.3 A serious view will be taken of any conviction for a major traffic offence, this
includes:

 Causing death by dangerous driving.
 Dangerous driving.
 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs.
 Causing death by careless or inconsiderate driving.
 Careless and inconsiderate driving.
 Driving under the influence of drink or drugs etc.
 Driving whilst disqualified.
 Using a vehicle without insurance.
 Offences contrary to the taxi licensing legislation.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or an offence 
which replaces the above.

These guidelines make specific provision for certain types of major traffic offences to 
reflect the seriousness of those convictions. In the case of major traffic offences where 
no such specific provision is made and paragraph 14 (Disqualification) does not apply, an 
application will normally be refused unless a period of at least 3 years free from 
conviction of such offences has elapsed.

12.  Driving offences involving the loss of life

63103



12.1 A very serious view is to be taken of any applicant who has been convicted of 
a
driving offence that resulted in the loss of life. A licence will not normally be granted 
unless the applicant is free of conviction for 7 years if he/she has a conviction for:

 Causing death by dangerous driving.
 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

12.2 Before a licence is granted, an applicant should be free of conviction for 3 
years, if he/she has a conviction for:

 Causing death by careless driving.
 Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers.
 Or any similar offences (including attempted or conspiracy to commit) or any offences 
which replace the above.

13.  Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs

13.1 As licensees are professional vocational drivers, a serious view is taken of 
convictions for driving, or being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of drink 
or drugs.

13.2 An isolated incident would not necessarily debar an applicant from proceeding 
on the restoration of his DVLA driving licence but he should be warned as to the 
significant risk to his licence status in the event of re-offending and he must comply with 
the rehabilitation period below.

13.3 More than one conviction for these offences raises significant doubts as to the
applicant's fitness to drive the public.

13.4 At least 3 years free of conviction, after the restoration of the driving licence 
following a drink drive conviction should elapse before an application will be considered. 
If there is any suggestion that the applicant is alcohol or drug dependent, a satisfactory 
special medical report must be provided before the application can be allowed to 
proceed.

14.  Disqualification

14.1 Where an applicant has been disqualified from driving following a conviction 
for a major traffic offence and no specific provision is made above regarding the 
appropriate rehabilitation period, the application will generally be refused unless a period 
of between 3 and 5 years free from conviction has elapsed from the restoration of the 
DVLA licence.

14.2 Where convictions for a number of minor traffic offences have resulted in the 
applicant being disqualified from driving for a period of time this will normally be taken as 
reflecting seriously on the applicant's driving standard. Generally, a period of 12 months 
free from conviction must have elapsed from the restoration of the DVLA licence.

64104



14.3 In "totting-up" cases where disqualification is considered by the court, even if 
the court does not disqualify (e.g. because of exceptional circumstances) a driver, the 
Council is likely to refuse a hackney carriage or private hire driver's licence because 
different criteria apply and an applicant will normally be expected to show a period of 12 
months free from conviction from the date the court made its finding of exceptional 
circumstances justifying the non-disqualification.

14.4 Any period of disqualification will lead to the suspension/ revocation of a 
licence.

15.  Insurance offences

15.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a 
vehicle without insurance. An isolated incident in the past will not necessarily prevent a 
licence being granted provided he/she has been free of such conviction for 3 years; 
however a strict warning should be given as to future behaviour. More than one 
conviction for these offences would normally prevent a licence being granted or renewed.

15.2 An operator found guilty of aiding and abetting the driving of passengers for 
hire and reward whilst without insurance will have his operators’ licence revoked 
immediately and prevented from holding a licence for 3 years.

16.  Cautions

16.1 Admission of guilt is required before a caution can be issued. Every case will 
be considered on its own merits including the details and nature of the offence.

16.2 If an applicant has received a caution for a traffic offence, given the nature of 
the offence and the profession of a taxi driver, the applicant may be given a warning as to 
his/her future conduct.

16.3 Cautions for more serious offences could lead to refusal of an application or 
the suspension or revocation of a licence.

17.  Outstanding charges or summonses

17.1 If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their 
application can continue to be processed, but the application will need to be reviewed at 
the conclusion of proceedings. 

17.2 If the outstanding charge or summons involves a serious offence, then in the 
interests of public safety the application may be put on hold until proceedings are 
concluded or the licence may be refused.

17.3 A suspension or revocation of the licence of a driver takes effect at the end of 
the
period of 21 days beginning with the day on which notice is given to the driver. If it 
appears that the interests of public safety require the suspension or revocation of the 
licence to have immediate effect, and the notice given to the driver includes a statement 

65105



that is so and an explanation why, the suspension or revocation takes effect when the 
notice is given to the driver. [Road Safety Act 2006, s 52, 2A&2B]

18.  Licensing offences

18.1 Convictions for offences contrary to taxi legislation such as plying for hire, 
overcharging and refusing to carry disabled persons would normally prevent a licence 
being granted or renewed unless the applicant has been free of such convictions for a 
period of at least 3 years.

19.  Licences issued by other licensing authorities

19.1 Applicants who hold a licence with one licensing authority should not 
automatically assume that their application will be granted by another. Each case will 
always be decided on its own merits.

20.  Summary

20.1 To summarise, a motoring/criminal history in itself may not automatically result 
in refusal and a current conviction for a serious crime need not bar an applicant 
permanently from becoming licensed. As the preceding paragraphs indicate, in most 
cases, an applicant would be expected to remain free from conviction for 3 to 15 years, 
according to circumstances, before an application can be considered. However, there 
may be occasions when an application can be allowed before 3 years free from 
conviction have elapsed.

20.2 Any person who has committed an offence and has to wait before an 
application is positively considered is more likely to value their licence and act 
accordingly.

20.3 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions that, 
individually, meet the above guidelines, the overall offending history must be considered 
when assessing an applicant’s suitability to be licensed. A series of offences over a 
period of time is more likely to give cause for concern than an isolated minor conviction. 
Obviously some discretion can be afforded if an offence disclosed is isolated and there 
are mitigating circumstances, but the overriding consideration is the protection of the 
public.

Annex C to
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Procedures & Conditions

66106



Dated  30th June 2011

Immediate revocation and suspension of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Drivers licenses 

The Borough Council has adopted a procedure to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence 
with immediate effect where the interests of public safety require such course of 
action. The power under Section 52 of The Road Safety Act 2006 has been delegated 
to the Executive Director of Environment and Planning and the Chief Executive of the 
Borough Council. The below flowchart sets out the procedure adopted:  

Delegation to Executive Director; Environment and Planning (ED) and Chief Executive 
(CE) in relation to S52 of the Road Safety Act 2006

Annex D to

67

Report received that would bring into question an individual’s continued suitability to hold 
either a hackney carriage or private hire licence.  

• serious road traffic offences, 
• drink driving related offences, 
• serious drug related offences, 
• offences involving indecency, sexual assault or violence and 
• serious offences dishonesty

This is not an exhaustive list but highlights the type of matters to be considered. 

Report prepared by Licensing Manager / Senior Licensing Enforcement Officer for 
consideration by either ED or CE

Formal meeting / telephone conversation as soon as practicable (at least same working 
day) with ED or CE and either Chair or Vice-Chair of the Licensing and Appeals Board

Formal meeting within 24 hours with either ED or CE and either Chair or Vice-Chair of the 
Licensing and Appeals Board
Driver / representative invited to make personal representations

Public safety NOT immediately 
compromised

Public safety IS compromised

Refer matter to Panel of Licensing 
and Appeals Board

Licensed suspended or revoked with 
IMMEDIATE EFFECT

Driver notified in writing fully justifying 
reasons action was taken
Advised of right of appeal – suspension or 
revocation remains in force

107



Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Procedures & Conditions
Dated  30th June 2011

GUIDANCE

Introduction

68

Hackney Carriage
&

Private Hire Vehicle

Compliance Testing Standards

Standards of vehicle test to be applied in addition to 
the statutory requirements of the MOT testing 

Code of Practice

108



1. This document is intended to provide practical guidance to vehicle 
testers charged with assessing vehicles being issued with a certificate of 
compliance. It will also give a general insight into the type of examination the 
vehicle will be subjected to before it can be issued with a certificate of 
compliance.

2. It is the responsibility of owners, operators and drivers to ensure that 
their vehicles comply with the current rules and regulations of the appropriate 
Road Traffic Act and current Construction and Use Regulations at all times. 

3. Where a vehicle is found not to conform to the requirements of the 
M.O.T. test and/or compliance test standards, that vehicle may have its licence 
suspended until the Borough Councils authorised officers are satisfied that the 
vehicle is fit to be licensed.

Guidance

4. No adaptations, alterations, modifications, additional equipment, optional 
extras with the exception of tow bars fitted to a professional standard, are to be 
fitted to the vehicles without the prior approval of the Borough Council. Any 
owner wishing to alter or modify the vehicle, including the fitting of extras or 
alternative parts to those supplied by the manufacturer must seek prior 
permission from the Borough Council. Certain modifications may require special 
inspection by the Borough Council's authorised officer or his nominee before 
approval is given. (A fee may be applicable)

5. When a vehicle presented for compliance test fails on more than twelve 
items, that vehicle will have to be re-submitted for a full compliance test and a 
re-test fee will be charged. The vehicle proprietor will be issued with a failure 
sheet from the testing station, and the testing station will supply a copy of the 
failure sheet to The Licensing Team at the Borough Council. 

6. Both M.O.T. and compliance tests must be completed by the same 
examiner at the same test station at the same time of day (obviously MOT 
testing is completed without avoidable distraction etc so compliance testing may 
be carried out before or after the MOT inspection). Compliance failure items 
must be resolved with the same garage at a later date. 

7. The Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk recognises the 
need for approved MOT vehicle station examiners to test drive Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles as part of the compliance inspection 
process. 

8.  Vehicles which are less than 3 years old and do not require an MOT are 
required to have a compliance test but are not required to have a standard MOT test.

69109



Contents

1.      Exterior of the Vehicle

2.      Boot

3.      Engine Compartment

4.      Tyres & Spare Wheels

5.      Interior of Vehicle

6.      Fire Extinguishers & First Aid

7.      Vehicle Signage

8.      Underside of Vehicle

9.      Wheelchair Facilities

70110



1.0  EXTERIOR OF THE VEHICLE
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

1.1
The exterior of the bodywork, the underside of 
vehicle is to be in a clean condition so as to 
facilitate full inspection of these areas.

Contamination preventing full or proper 
inspection.

1.2
Check operation of all external locks and 
catches, ensuring all doors can be securely 
closed locked and easily opened.

Defective external door catches or locks which 
prevent a door opening or closing properly.

1.3

Check all doors to ensure that they are aligned 
properly will open and close easily, and all gaps 
around doors are reasonably equal. Ensure 
boot lid opens/closes, and locks correctly and 
that all hinges and opening mechanisms 
adequately support the lid when it is in the open 
position

Poorly fitting doors to the vehicle. Worn locks, 
hinges or defective boot opening device.

1.4 Check to ensure all door hinges are in good 
condition, allowing free movement of door.

Door hinges defective

1.5 Check all wind check positions to ensure that 
doors are held in place when opened.

Wind checks fail to hold doors in place when 
opened

1.6

Examine the external body panels and 
structures for any evidence of corrosion, 
damage, or unsatisfactory repairs.

Corrosion or damage to the vehicle body or 
structure which adversely affects the 
appearance and/or safety of the vehicle. 
Replacement panels fitted that alter the effect 
of impact zones. Gaps reasonably unequal 
around panels.

1.7
Examine the external body and paint work for 
damage, which adversely affects the 
appearance of the vehicle.

Generally poor or damaged body or paintwork, 
dull, not in uniform in colour, and appearance, 
repairs visible, paint work of poor standard, 
overspray to any other part of the vehicle.

1.8
Check nearside and offside door/wing mirrors 
are fitted in a secure manner and that they 
function correctly.  Ensure aerial is securely 
fixed.

Missing or defective exterior mirrors.  Aerial 
not securely fixed.

1.9
Ensure front and rear bumpers are in good 
order (without any damage) and are securely 
fixed to the vehicle.

Damaged or inadequately secured front or rear 
bumpers, angled dents and end caps.

1.10
Ensure number plates are in good condition and 
are free of damage, and legible.  White 
reflective at front and yellow reflective at rear.

Damage to front or rear number plates.

1.11
Examine rubber seals to doors and windows for 
damage, looseness or absence affecting 
performance of seals.

Damage or missing, or loose door seals which 
may cause draught, rainwater ingress 
unreasonable road noise or trip hazard.

1.12
Vehicles must be fitted with a key locking fuel 
cap or an internal means of lock or release.

Vehicle not having a method of securing fuel 
cap.

1.13 Reversing lights must be operable when fitted. Reverse lights not operable.

1.14
All windows to be free of cracks and excessive 
marking.

Cracks in windscreen or rear window.  Cracks 
in side windows or excessive marking on any 
window.

1.15

No glass, with the exception of a tinted sun-strip 
along the top of the windscreen, shall be tinted 
to such an extent as to obscure the view of the 
inside of the vehicle under normal workshop 
lighting conditions from a distance of 4 metres. 
Stretched Limousines are exempt from this 
requirement. 

Glass is tinted to such an extent that the view 
is obscured inside the vehicle. 

71111



2.0 BOOT
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

2.1
Examine the boot interior for evidence of 
damage, corrosion or water penetration.

Damage to the floor of the boot, inner wing 
panels or lid.

2.2
Examine the boot floor to ensure that it is in 
good condition and offers adequate 
protection to passenger’s luggage stored in 
boot.

Excessive wear, damage or staining to the 
boot floor.

2.3

Examine interior of boot to ensure it is clean 
and free of dirt, dust, grease, litter etc. 

Accumulation of dirt, grease, dust, litters or 
rubbish in the boot which could soil or damage 
luggage stored within.

Note:  A five litre bottle of engine oil and water 
will be permitted.

2.4
Check boot for presence of any containers 
of any flammable or corrosive material (e.g. 
oil, petrol or diesel).

Containers for the storage of petrol, diesel, or 
any corrosive material shall not be carried in 
the vehicle.

2.5 Ensure that boot can be secured by a 
locking mechanism.

72112



3.0 ENGINE COMPARTMENT
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

3.1
Carry out visual inspection of engine 
compartment for signs of fuel, oil or water 
leaks.

Excessive oil, fuel or water leaks

3.2 Check to ensure that the battery is 
properly secured in its correct position.

Battery not adequately secured.

3.3 Examine all plastic/rubber or metal hoses 
for signs of deterioration or damage.

Worn or deteriorated hoses or pipes.

3.4 Check drive belt for correct adjustment 
and for signs of deterioration or damage.

Incorrectly adjusted or damaged drive belt

3.5 Check security of radiator and check 
hoses for leaks.

Leaking or insecure radiator.

3.6
Examine engine/transmission mounts for 
signs of deterioration or wear.

Insecure or deteriorated engine / 
transmission mountings. 

3.7 Check clutch mechanisms for correct 
operation.

Leakage of fluid or mechanical wear in 
the clutch mechanisms.

3.8 Check operation of bonnet release/s 
catches.

Defective bonnet release catch or 
mechanisms.

3.9
Run engine to normal operational 
temperature to ensure the engine is not 
breathing out any excess fumes.

Engine breathing excess fumes.

3.10
Fuel cut off switch to be operable and 
present where known to be fitted as 
standard

Switch inoperable or removed.

73113



4.0 TYRES AND SPARE WHEEL
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

4.1

Ensure that spare tyre is of same size and 
construction as those fitted to the road 
wheels or manufacturers supplied space 
saver wheel.  Vehicles manufactured 
without a sparewheel/spacer saver are 
allowed a trye weld.

A spare wheel not provided with the 
vehicle. A tyre that is of a different size or 
construction or a non-manufactured 
supplied space saver wheel.  No tyre weld 
provided

4.2
Examine tyres for signs of damage or 
excessive uneven wear ensure spare tyre 
complies with all legal requirements for 
tyres when fitted to the vehicle.

Damaged, worn, sub standard or 
otherwise illegal tyre.

4.3 Check to ensure all tyres are inflated to 
correct pressure for the vehicle.

Under inflated tyre.

4.4
Examine the wheel brace and jack 
provided to ensure they are in good 
working order.

Failure to provide a suitable jack/wheel 
brace.

4.5
Check to ensure the spare wheel fixing 
bracket (or similar device) will hold spare 
securely in position.

Spare wheel and tools not secured 
properly.

4.6 Check spare wheel rim for any signs of 
distortion or damage.

A seriously damaged or distorted rim 
which impairs the ability to hold the tyre.

4.7
All tyres to have a minimum tread depth 
of 1.6mm across 75% centre tread width 
with the remaining 25% to have tread 
pattern showing, including spare.

Tyres not showing the required tread 
depth.

4.8
If vehicle fitted with wheel trims as 
standard for that type of vehicle all must 
be present and in good repair. 

Wheel trims missing, badly scuffed or 
damaged. 

Notes: 
 A mix of steel and cord radials will not be accepted.
 Re-cut tyres are not acceptable.
 Remould tyres will NOT be acceptable.

74114



5.0 INTERIOR OF VEHICLE
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

5.1

Examine all floor and upholstery inside 
the vehicle for any damage, 
accumulation of dirt, dust, litter, general 
debris, cigarette ash, staining, or 
excessive wear. Examine roof lining for 
excessive staining and any damage.

A vehicle which is in a dirty condition with 
accumulations of dust, dirt, litter, debris, 
damage or staining (including roof lining).

5.2
Remove any mats from floor and 
examine carpeting for signs of leakage 
of water into the vehicle.

Evidence of leakage of water into vehicle.

5.3
Examine any mats to ensure they are 
not worn, damaged or a tripping hazard.

Upholstery including trims and panels which 
are damaged, excessively worn or 
holed/torn.

5.4
Sit in each of the seats within the vehicle 
to ensure that all seat cushions are in 
good condition and offer proper support.

Seat cushions or back rests which are in 
poor condition and/or offer poor support.

5.5
Examine all seats to ensure they are 
properly secured to the vehicle including 
fixed seat cushions.

Seats which are not adequately secured to 
the vehicle.

5.6

Check operation of interior lights, 
checking both manual and door operated 
switches. (Note: All doors to have 
switches fitted if fitted as standard by 
manufacturer).

Faulty interior light fitting/s or switch/es.

5.7
Examine rear view mirrors to ensure 
they are securely fixed. 

A loose, cracked, damaged or missing rear 
mirror or one that impairs vision.

5.8
Check operation of the heater and 
demisters to ensure they work correctly. 

Defective heater or demisters.

5.9
Check operation of clutch and also 
condition of pedal rubbers.

Defective clutch operation, worn or missing 
pedal rubbers.

5.10
Check operation of rear screen heater to 
ensure it is functioning correctly.

Defective rear screen heater.

5.11
Check operation of all window winders 
and door locks ensuring they open and 
close easily.

Window winders that do not allow windows 
to be lowered/raised easily. Defective 
window locks or associated fittings.

5.12

Check the operation of all door release 
catches including motion door locks to 
ensure that doors can be opened easily 
from within the vehicle. 

Defective interior door release catches. 
Defective motion locks, motion locks fitted 
with override. Warning lamps inoperative, 
warning labels damaged or defaced.

5.13
Ensure childproof locks function correctly 
where fitted.

Defective childproof locks.

5.14 Check all door handles, and grab rails 
for condition and security. Ensure 

Door handles, interior trims, mouldings, 
damaged, worn or not secured properly.

75115



childproof protection covers are in place 
and free of damage and held in place 
securely.

5.15
Check for unpleasant odours within the 
vehicle.

Unacceptable smells.

5.16

If metal grill is fitted ensure it has no 
sharp edges or exposed parts that may 
lead to injury of passengers or driver, 
ensure grill is firmly secured. (Metal grill 
must not prevent operation of privacy 
partition).

Loose or incorrectly fitted grill or exposed 
parts that may cause injury. Privacy partition 
obstructed.

5.17
Check that a luggage grill/cover is fitted 
to estate cars and MPVs..

Luggage grill/cover not fitted.

5.18

Check that intercom systems (where 
fitted) are capable of being switched off 
within passenger compartment and that 
there are signs clearly visible explaining 
their use and how to switch them off. 
Check that a light is visible when 
intercom is on.

Intercom system not clearly marked. No 
means of passenger isolating system easily. 
Warning light not working.

5.19
Check condition of all electrical wiring to 
ensure it’s routed correctly and poses no 
risk or hazard to passengers.

Wiring not routed correctly, insecure, 
damaged, poses a hazard or risk to 
passengers.

5.20 CCTV shall be firmly affixed where fitted. Loose camera or screen fitted

5.21
Ensure gate around lever is present and 
not split.

Split or missing gaiter can allow debris to 
fall into gear linkage.

 
Notes: 

 5.1. Vehicles presented in a dirty untidy condition should not be tested. 
 5.2. Where interior trims or roof lining have one rip or tear of not more than 75mm a good 

quality stitched repair is acceptable (patches not allowed).
 5.4. Patching is not acceptable on any interior upholstery
 Advice may be given that a roof lining will be required to be renewed at the next test.
 5.16. If a glass partition is fitted this must to British Standards
 5.17. All trims, mouldings, door handles, grab handles to be free of damage.
 5.19 All electrical wiring to be in good order and securely routed. When going through 

panels the wiring must be protected by rubber grommets.

76116



6.0 FIRE EXTINGUISHERS & FIRST AID
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

EXTINGUISHER

6.1
Check to ensure that the fire extinguisher is 
a 1-litre (3a) rated AFFF (aqueous film 
foam) type or powder.

Fire extinguisher not of approved type or 
rating.

6.2
Ensure that the vehicle registration number 
is clearly marked on the identification tag 
attached to the extinguisher.

Vehicle registration number is not clearly 
attached to identification tag on 
extinguisher.

6.3 Ensure that seal is in place and has not 
been tampered with and is intact.

Approved seal is not in place, or is 
damaged.

6.4 Visibly check extinguisher for signs of 
damage.

Visible signs of damage which would 
impair its use.

6.5
Extinguishers to be affixed within the driving 
compartment or in boot compartment in 
readily accessible position. 

Extinguisher is not mounted securely, not 
readily accessible, and not mounted in 
approved position. 

FIRST AID

6.6

A secure and clearly identifiable first aid 
container must be provided, to contain not 
less than:

 10 x medifresh antiseptic wipes or 
equivalent

 1 x 7.5cm bandage
 2 x triangular bandages
 24 x assorted plasters
 3 x large ambulance dressings
 2 x eye pads and elastic to secure
 12 x assorted safety pins
 1 x pair scissors
 2 x pairs disposable gloves

The first aid container is not secure or 
clearly identifiable. The first aid box does 
not contain all the items listed opposite. 

Notes: 

 BAFE (British Approvals for Fire Equipment) is the only approved certification and 
maintenance scheme acceptable to the Authority.

 Only persons approved by BAFE may maintain and certify extinguishers fitted to hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles. All information concerning the standards for 
extinguishers is contained within BS EN2.

77117



7. 0 VEHICLE SIGNAGE
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

HACKNEY CARRIAGE ONLY

7.1 Roof signs to be white in colour and securely 
fitted to the vehicle. 

Roof sign are not white in colour or securely 
fitted to   vehicle. 

7.2 Check that signage is displayed on the roof with 
the word “Taxi” on the front and that it can be 
read from a distance of 20 metres. 

The specified wording is not displayed on the 
roof sign or that it cannot be read from a 
distance of 20 metres.

7.3 Check that the sign shall be capable of being 
illuminated internally in such a manner that the 
word “TAXI” is illuminated at all times when the 
vehicle is plying for hire, but not otherwise.

The roof sign is not capable of being 
illuminated internally.

PRIVATE HIRE ONLY
7.5 The private hire vehicle shall not have a roof 

mounted sign of any kind. 
The private hire vehicle has a roof mounted 
sign.

7.6 The private hire vehicle shall not display any 
sign, which consists of or includes the word ‘Taxi’ 
or ‘Cab’ whether singular or plural, or ‘Hire’, or 
any word of a similar meaning or appearance to 
any of those words, whether alone or as part of 
another word. The only exception for use of the 
word ‘Hire’ displayed on a private hire vehicle is 
when the word is used in conjunction with the 
word ‘Private’ to form the word ‘Private Hire’.

The private hire vehicle has the wording ‘taxi’ 
or ‘cab’ or words of a similar meaning.

7.7 A sign must be displayed on each side of the 
vehicle specifying the operator name, with a 
telephone number for bookings, with the wording 
‘Pre-Booked Only’ or ‘Advance Bookings Only’, 
with letters no smaller than 60mm in height. The 
sign must be clearly visible in a prominent 
position on the side of the vehicle, i.e black or 
dark coloured signage on a black vehicle would 
not be permitted.

There is no signage prominently displayed on 
each side of the vehicle. The signage is not 
clearly visible. The writing for the signage is 
smaller than 60mm in height.

78118



8.0 UNDERSIDE OF VEHICLE
METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

8.1 Check to ensure the vehicle is free of any 
leakage of Water, Fuel and Oil.

The vehicle has an excessive fuel, oil or 
water leakage.

8.2 Check for security/wear in any drive 
shafts.

Insecure or worn drive shaft components or 
mounting.

8.3
Check for excess corrosion/damage/ that 
does not fall within the prescribed area as 
set out in the MOT testers manual.

Evidence of excess corrosion/damage to 
underside of vehicle.

8.4
Check for wear of any engine or 
transmission mounting that does not fall 
within the scope of the MOT testers 
manual.

Worn or damaged mountings

8.5 Ball joint rubbers to be free of damage. Missing, torn or damaged mountings.

8.6 Damaged, torn or insecure inner drive 
shaft gaiters

Release of lubrication from joint.

Notes:
 When a vehicle fails on fuel, oil, water leaks, on re-test it will be left running for no less than 

five minutes prior to inspection.

79119



9. WHEELCHAIR FACILITIES1

METHOD OF INSPECTION PRINCIPAL REASON FOR FAILURE

9.1 Check condition of wheelchair restraints and 
equipment

Wheelchair restraints or equipment worn 
damaged or missing.

9.2 Check operation of wheelchair restraints. Wheelchair restraints not functioning 
correctly.

9.3 Check operation and condition of disabled 
person’s seatbelt.

Seatbelt worn, frayed, damaged or cut.

9.4 Check that appropriate approved ramps are 
securely installed in the boot of the vehicle.

Ramps not of an approved type, fitting or 
insecure.

9.5 Examine the ramps for any damage, sharp 
edges or corners.

Ramps in poor condition or damaged or 
sharp edges showing.

9.6 Check as applicable the non-slip provision and 
locating dowel pins are free of any damage.

Non slip provision worn or damaged, 
locating dowels damaged, worn or missing.

9.7

A wheelchair space shall not be less than:
 1200mm measured in the longitudinal plane 

of the vehicle 
 750mm measured in the transverse plane 

of the vehicle
 1300mm measured vertically from any part 

of the floor of the wheelchair space.

Wheelchair space is less than:
 1200mm measured in the longitudinal 

plane of the vehicle 
 750mm measured in the transverse 

plane of the vehicle
 1300mm measured vertically from any 

part of the floor of the wheelchair space

9.8
A wheelchair space shall allow the carriage of a 
wheelchair and a wheelchair user facing the 
front of the vehicle.

Wheelchair space does not allow carriage 
of wheelchair user facing frontwards.

9.9

Access to the vehicle must be possible from the 
road or pavement either by a lift or ramp. Any 
power-operated device must be capable of 
manual operation in the event of a power 
failure. 

Access to vehicle is not possible from road 
or pavement by list of ramp. Lifting device 
not capable of operating with no power.

9.10

A ramp should be of slip resistance material 
and at least 750mm in width. The ramp should 
be capable of been deployed both onto the road 
and onto a 125mm high kerb.  The ramp when 
deployed should be securely located at the 
point of entry to the vehicle. For side & read 
loading the ramps when deployed to the 
pavement should not exceed a slope of 1:4.  

Ramp not slip resistant material. Width less 
than 750mm and not capable of being 
deployed onto 125mm high kerb. Ramp not 
securely located at entry point of vehicle. 
Slope exceeds 1:4.

9.11

The lift platform must be not less than 750mm 
in width and not less than 1200mm in length.  
The ramp should be equipped with a device to 
prevent the wheelchair rolling off and should 
operate at a vertical speed of less than 
0.15m/s.

Lift platform less than 750mm in width or 
1200mm in length. No device to prevent 
wheelchair rolling off ramp. 

9.12
A 4 point anchorage system must be fitted, 
comprising two for attachment at the front of the 
wheelchair and two at the rear of the 
wheelchair, in accordance with ISO 10542-2.

No 4 point anchorage system installed in 
accordance with ISO 10542-2.

1 Any additional Hackney Carriage Vehicle licenses issued must be wheelchair accessible (i.e. plate 53 onwards).

80120



 
CABINET  REPORT

Open

Any especially 
affected 
Wards

Discretionary / 

Operational

Would any decisions proposed :

Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide YES
Need to be recommendations to Council     NO

Is it a Key Decision NO

Other Cabinet Members consulted: Lead Member: Cllr Adrian Lawrence
E-mail: cllr.adrian.lawrence@west-
norfolk.gov.uk Other Members consulted: 

Lead Officer:  Duncan Hall
E-mail: Duncan.hall@west-norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial:01553 616445

Other Officers consulted: Ray Harding

Financial 
Implications 
NO

Policy/Personnel 
Implications
NO

Statutory 
Implications  
NO

Equal Impact 
Assessment YES
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment

Risk Management 
Implications
YES

Date of meeting: 1St  December 2015 

STRATEGIC FORUM:  FREEBRIDGE COMMUNITY HOUSING & 
BOROUGH COUNCIL OF KING’S LYNN & WEST NORFOLK

Summary 
This report proposes the establishment of a structured forum involving 
Freebridge Community Housing (FCH) and the Council. Whilst an effective 
relationship has been maintained since stock transfer in 2006, there is 
currently no existing forum for the two organisations to engage in discussion 
on strategic mattersat a Senior Member/Director level.

In recent years FCH have developed into an increasingly important partner to 
the Borough Council not only in terms of the provision of social and affordable 
housing but also on wider community issues.  Close working with FCH is vital 
in relation to speedily addressing the need of homeless people and families to 
whom the Council owes a statutory duty, as well as in terms of providing 
homes for people on the housing register.  FCH are a key partner within the 
West Norfolk partnership and have played a significant part in a range of 
community initiatives, an example being their acquisition of the Providence 
Street Community facilities in King’s Lynn which has been enhanced and 
improved both operationally and physically since FCH acquired the building 
from Norfolk County Council. 

A strategic forum has been proposed (to include two meetings per year) that 
will provide an opportunity to ensure that respective priorities are understood; 
that new opportunities are explored; and that challenges and risks are 
identified.  The proposal to establish formal arrangements for engagement 
comes at a time of significant change in the operating environment of 
registered housing providers.

Recommendation
 To agree the proposed terms of reference to a strategic forum between 

121

Agenda Item 10



the Council and FCH as set out in this report. 
 To agree that the Leader and the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for 

Housing, along with the Chief Executive, represent the Council at the 
proposed forum.

Reason for Decision
A structured arrangement will help ensure that an effective relationship with 
FCH the major provider of affordable housing in the area is maintained. 

Background

The proposal for a structured arrangement to enable appropriate engagement 
regarding strategic matters has arisen for the following reasons:

The operating environment of registered providers of social housing is 
currently subject to change. National policy changes have necessitated the 
need for most housing providers to review their business plans based on 
reduced income assumptions. New cost pressures will lead to decision 
making and policy changes that will possibly have impacts on stake-holders 
including Councils. FCH will need to keep their policies, practices, and 
development strategies under review in this new operating environment. 

The Borough Council has two places on FCH Board which are allocated by 
Annual Council.  Alongside the tenant representation and the independent 
board members and two executive board members.  These provide for direct 
engagement in the direction and management of the organisation. 

The Council also holds a ‘golden share’ which is exercised by the Portfolio 
Holder with responsibility for housing.  Certain key decisions are reserved to 
Shareholders meetings and require the agreement of the Borough Council.  
Perhaps the most significant of which relates to any proposed changes to the 
constitution of the organisation, for example if they were to be proposed 
changes to the board structure or perhaps for a merger with another 
association at some point in the future. 

There is currently no framework for strategic priorities of the Council’s Lead 
member or Leader to be directly voiced. The proposed forum will provide this 
opportunity and help maintain understanding and trust into the future.

Operational activities and issues will continue to be dealt with at an officer/ 
staff level within the respective organisations.  The strategic forum will 
consider wider cross-cutting matters and explore opportunities to work 
together. 

The proposed terms of reference are as follows:
 

Proposed Terms of Reference

122



The aims of the joint group established by BCKLWN and Freebridge 
Community Housing shall be to work together in order to:-

(a) Identify the potential for strategic joint action on a range of cross cutting 
issues which concern both Freebridge and the Council; in particular to ensure 
that partnership between both organisations is used effectively to the benefit 
of Freebridge tenants and/or the wider West Norfolk community.

(b) Identify issues of common interest to the community, including housing 
need.

(c) Review and monitor the outputs of joint involvement in Government 
funded schemes in liaison with appropriate agencies.

(d) Discuss issues relating to the Borough Council’s role as a Freebridge 
shareholder, for instance any proposed changes to the Freebridge 
constitution, and including Board Member recruitment.

(e) Discuss any areas where the working relationship between Freebridge 
and the Borough Council could be improved or developed.

(f) Share information around key areas of activity.

Membership shall be:-

• Freebridge:  Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Chief Executive

• Borough Council:  Leader, Portfolio Holder with responsibility for 
Housing, Chief Executive

• Co-optees as determined by the Group

The Group can be attended by Officers of the Council and Freebridge.

Venue: Alternatively Council offices and Freebridge premises

Convenor/Clerk: Host of the ‘next’ meeting

Meeting Frequency: Twice a year (but can meet more often if required)

Other Options Considered 

Do nothing – This option is not considered appropriate as it does not address 
the need for engagement at a strategic level. The new operating environment 
presents challenges and opportunities (including investment opportunities) 
that will need to be dealt with in an environment of understanding and co-
operation. The proposed formal strategic forum offers opportunities for both 
organisations to maintain and develop an effective relationship. 

123



Policy Implications
There are no policy implications.

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications

Personnel Implications
There are no personnel implications

Statutory Considerations
The arrangements that the Council has with FCH connected with temporary 
accommodation and allocation of social housing tenancies assist the Council 
in delivering some of its statutory housing functions.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
Pre-screening form attached.

Risk Management Implications
Important issues could be misunderstood or opportunities missed without 
effective communication at the strategic level.

Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted 
None 

Background Papers
None 

124



Please Note:  If there are any positive or negative impacts identified in question 1, or 
there any ‘yes’ responses to questions 2 – 4 a full impact assessment will be required.

Pre-Screening Equality Impact 
Assessment

Name of policy/service/function Strategic Forum with FCH : Housing 

Is this a new or existing policy/ service/function? New  arrangement

Brief summary/description of the main aims of the 
policy/service/function being screened.

Please state if this policy/service rigidly 
constrained by statutory obligations

To provide a strategic forum for board representatives 
from FCH to meet with Leader; Lead member for Housing; 
and CEO of BCKLWN to discuss and agree strategic 
matters as set out in Terms of Reference.

Question Answer

Po
si

tiv
e 

N
eg

at
iv

e

N
eu

tra
l

U
ns

ur
e

Age ×

Disability ×

Gender ×

Gender Re-assignment ×

Marriage/civil partnership ×

Pregnancy & maternity ×

Race ×

Religion or belief  

Sexual orientation

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 
policy/service/function could have a specific 
impact on people from one or more of the 
following groups according to their different 
protected characteristic, for example, because 
they have particular needs, experiences, issues or 
priorities or in terms of ability to access the 
service?

Please tick the relevant box for each group.  

NB. Equality neutral means no negative impact on 
any group.

Other (eg low income)

Question Answer Comments

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to affect 
relations between certain equality communities or 
to damage relations between the equality 
communities and the Council, for example 
because it is seen as favouring a particular 
community or denying opportunities to another?

No

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 
impacting on communities differently?

No

4. Is the policy/service specifically designed to 
tackle evidence of disadvantage or potential 
discrimination?

No

Actions:5. Are any impacts identified above minor and if 
so, can these be eliminated or reduced by minor 
actions?
If yes, please agree actions with a member of the 
Corporate Equalities Working Group and list 
agreed actions in the comments section

No

Actions agreed by EWG member:
…………………………………………

Assessment completed by:
Name Duncan Hall

Job title Housing Services Manager Date4 Nov 2015

125



12/11/2015

ENVIRONMENT & COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAMME 2015/2016

25 November 2015 – 6.00pm – meeting to be preceded by a tour of Lynnsport at 4.45pm – meet in the Wembley Room for 
the tour.
Meeting to be held in the Wembley Room, Lynnsport

 Leisure Trust Update
 Cabinet Report - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Conditions Review
 Cabinet Report – Freebridge Community Housing representation

6 January 2016 – 4.00pm

 Norfolk Museums Service Update – last considered Jan 2015 – Robin Hanley
 Pay to use toilets
 West Norfolk Disability Forum
 Air Quality Annual update – Dave Robson

27 January 2016 – 6.00pm

 Capital Programme
 Budget
 Update on Homelessness – last considered on 7th January 2015
 Recycling Project Update – Ian Burbidge
 Joint working with Norfolk Constabulary and SNAP updates – John Greenhalgh – invite KLACC

24 February 2016 – 4.00pm

23 March 2016 – 6.00pm

 Annual Feedback Reports from Outside Bodies
 Food safety team Annual Update – last considered March 2014.

126

A
genda Item

 11



12/11/2015

 Environmental Statement (last considered October 2014) – Melvin Harrison

20 April 2016 – 4.00pm

To be confirmed

 Effect of wind turbines on the fishing industry 
 Visit to the air raid shelter

127



FORWARD DECISIONS LIST

Date of 
meeting

Report title Description 
of report

Key or 
Non Key 
Decision

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer

List of 
Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting

1 December
2015

Hackney Carriage & Private 
Hire Licensing Conditions & 
Procedures Review 

Non Council Community
Exec Director – G Hall

Public

Freebridge/Council Liaison 
Board

Non Cabinet Housing and Community
Chief Executive

Public

Date of 
meeting

Report title Description 
of report

Key or 
Non Key 
Decision

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer

List of 
Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting

12 January
2016

Final Council Tax Support 
Scheme 2016/17

Key Council Leader
Asst Exec Dir – L Gore

Public

Council Tax Support 
Discretionary Hardship Fund 
1016/17

Key Council Leader
Asst Exec Dir – L Gore

Public

Switched on  - 
Transformation Strategy

Non Council Exec Dir – D Gates
Leader

Public

Community Infrastructure 
Levy

Key Council Housing and Community
Exec Director – G Hall

Public

The Statement of 
Community Involvement

Non Cabinet Development
Exec Director G Hall

Public

Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm 
Regulations 2015

Non Cabinet Housing and Community
Chief Executive

Public

Corporate Business Plan 
2015-19

Key Council Chief Executive Public

Electoral Review Key Council Leader
Chief Executive

Public

Affordable Housing 
Company

Non Cabinet Housing & Community
Chief Executive

Public

Proposed Surgery 
Development – King’s Lynn

Key Council Regeneration& Industrial Assets
Exec Dir – C Bamfield

Private- Private - 
Contains exempt 
Information under 
para 3 – 

128



information 
relating to the 
business affairs of 
any person 
(including the 
authority)

Charging Policy for Electric 
Vehicles

Non Cabinet ICT Leisure & Public Space and 
Environment
Exec Dir – C Bamfield

Public

Destination Management 
Plan

Non Cabinet Culture Heritage and Health
Chief Executive

Public

Date of 
meeting

Report title Description 
of report

Key or 
Non Key 
Decision

Decision Maker Cabinet  Member and Lead 
Officer

List of 
Background 
Papers 

Public or Private 
Meeting

2 February 
2016

Budget 2016/17 Key Council Leader
Asst Exec Dir – L Gore

Public

129


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Leisure Trust Update
	9 Cabinet Report - Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Conditions Review
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	10 Cabinet Report - Freebridge Community Housing Representation
	11 Work Programme and Forward Decisions List
	Cabinet Forward Decision List


